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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Good morning, or

          3  good afternoon.  The Governmental Operations

          4  Committee, as you know, is responsible for

          5  maintaining oversight on the electoral process in

          6  the City.

          7                 This Committee held an oversight

          8  hearing on April the 10th, 2003 on implementation of

          9  the federal and state "Motor Voter" Laws and the

         10  local Pro-Voter Law.  During our oversight hearing,

         11  we had uncovered that our local mandate was not as

         12  strong as it should be, and there were serious

         13  questions about compliance.

         14                 Our Oversight and Investigations

         15  Division, chaired by Council Member Gioia, issued a

         16  report in early September.  The report confirmed

         17  this Committee's suspicion, that the law was not

         18  being carried out to its full potential by the

         19  Mayor's agency.  We found out with the report, that

         20  agencies were not even complying with the less

         21  demanding law on the books.  Particularly troubling,

         22  two of the three worst boroughs, Manhattan and

         23  Brooklyn, are the City's counties that fall under

         24  the Voting Rights Act for Free Clearance.

         25                 This led us to be concerned that this
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          2  issue is not only one of governmental ineptitude,

          3  but also, a Civil Rights violation.  The

          4  Investigation Divisions Report endorsed our prior

          5  recommendations, and added to them.  Our

          6  recommendations and some of the report

          7  recommendations dealt with passing certain pieces of

          8  legislation to strengthen their Pro-Voter Act.

          9  Intros. 608 and 613 were drafted with such goals in

         10  mind.  Intro. 608, among other things, mandates

         11  annual training for agencies, verbal assistance for

         12  the public, and agency transmission of registration

         13  forms.  The law is amended to mandate annual

         14  training for agencies in regards to the Pro-Voter

         15  Law.  The Voter Assistance Commission's advisory

         16  guidelines shall now be binding guidelines on the

         17  Pro-Voter Agencies, and the Commission shall further

         18  be responsible for annual training of the agencies,

         19  or coordinating annual training with the state or

         20  city boards of elections.  Giving verbal assistance

         21  to the public shall no longer be discretionary on

         22  the part of agencies but, instead, part of their

         23  Pro- Voter Mandate. Let me repeat, verbal assistance

         24  shall no longer be discretionary on the part of

         25  agencies but, instead, part of their Pro-Voter

                                                            6

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  Mandate.

          3                 The law has been amended to mandate

          4  that each participating agency shall provide the

          5  same degree of assistance with regard to the

          6  completion of the registration application form, as

          7  is provided by the agency with regard to the

          8  completion of its own form.

          9                 Agencies shall also be responsible

         10  for receiving and transmitting such completed

         11  registration forms to the Board of Elections.

         12  Again, it would no longer be discretionary on the

         13  part of the agencies.  Now they will be mandated to

         14  collect and transmit voter registration

         15  applications.  This will go a long way in ensuring

         16  that many City residents are registered to vote.

         17  Intro. No. 613 incorporates Pro-Voter training into

         18  the Borough Presidents' Community Board Training

         19  responsibilities.

         20                 These measures should ensure agency

         21  accountability, and provide clearer and stronger

         22  mandates.  The Governmental Operations Committee is

         23  responsible for making sure these types of measures

         24  are in place.

         25                 Joining the Committee to my left, to
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          2  my near left, is the Chairwomen of the Health

          3  Committee Christine Quinn, and to her left, no to

          4  her right, I'm sorry, to my far left, I'm sorry,

          5  that is Christine Quinn on the far left, and

          6  slightly to her right is the Chairman of our Parks

          7  and Recreation Committee, Joseph Addabbo, Jr., and

          8  coming closer to me is a member of our Council who

          9  is the Chairwoman of our Technology Committee, Gale

         10  Brewer. And then, of course, we have our Counsel to

         11  Committee, Matthew Tollin, our Press Secretary Lupe

         12  Todd, and Jonathan Ettricks, our Policy Analyst.

         13                 We will begin with our first panel,

         14  that will include the New York City Board of

         15  Elections, the Executive Director, John Ravitz, and

         16  Steven Ferguson, George Gonzalez, Pamela Green

         17  Perkins.  Oh, Steve Richman, you've got somebody.

         18  Steve Ferguson.  Steven Ferguson, is there a Steven

         19  Ferguson? Yes, okay.  Is Steve Richman here also?

         20  Okay.  Are you all going to testify?  Who is going

         21  to testify?  Okay, so then, you are the only one

         22  that needs, I guess, to be sworn in.

         23                 MR. RAVITZ:  Well, they might answer

         24  questions, so.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  They might
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          2  answer --

          3                 MR. RAVITZ:  It is good for them to

          4  be sworn in.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Okay, it is

          6  good for them to be sworn in too then, if there is a

          7   "maybe".

          8                 COUNSEL TOLLIN:  Good afternoon.

          9  Please raise your right hand.  Do you solemnly swear

         10  and affirm the testimony you are about to give is

         11  the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the

         12  truth?

         13                 IN UNISON:  We do.

         14                 COUNSEL TOLLIN:  Thank you.  Could

         15  lean forward speaking, give your name and your

         16  affiliation with the Board.

         17                 MR. RICHMAN:  Steve Richman, General

         18  Counsel for the Board of Elections.

         19                 MR. RAVITZ:  John Ravitz, Executive

         20  Director, Board of Elections.

         21                 MR. GONZALEZ:  George Gonzalez,

         22  Deputy Director.

         23                 MS. PERKINS:  Pamela Green Perkins,

         24  Administrative Manager.

         25                 MR. FERGUSON:  Steve Ferguson,
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          2  Director of MIS.

          3                 MR. RAVITZ:  Mr. Chairman, members of

          4  the Committee, good afternoon.  Thank you for

          5  inviting me to testify this afternoon once again,

          6  regarding the Board of Elections' role in processing

          7  voter registration forms submitted under Local Law

          8  29.

          9                 For your information, during the

         10  currrent calendar year, the Board distributed over

         11  250,000 voter registration forms in the four covered

         12  languages, English, Spanish, Chinese and Korean to

         13  agencies with the Local Law 29 Code. To date, the

         14  Board records show that we received and processed

         15  3,339 voter registrations containing the Local Law

         16  29 Code.  Following my appearance before this

         17  Committee on April 10th, 2003, the Board in response

         18  to your suggestion began to track, in more detail,

         19  the number of voter registration forms submitted

         20  that are imprinted with the Local Law 29 Code.  A

         21  breakdown by month and borough is attached to my

         22  statement.  Also attached is a detailed schedule of

         23  the Local Law 29 Coded registration forms

         24  distributed by the Board to the various City

         25  agencies during 2003.
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          2                 It is important to remind this

          3  Committee, that at the present time there is no

          4  method to individually track which agency forms have

          5  been returned to the Board.  Your staff has provided

          6  us with a copy of a draft of Intro. 608, and the

          7  other Intro., which would require the coding of

          8  voter registration forms for each agency covered

          9  under Local Law 29.  The Boards' computer system can

         10  be modified to allow the forms, distributed by each

         11  agency, to be processed using a BOE assigned,

         12  specific code.  This would enable the Board to track

         13  the number of forms returned from each of the Local

         14  Law 29 covered agencies.

         15                 Our initial review shows that there

         16  will be additional cost incurred, if we are required

         17  to implement this new procedure.  Specifically, the

         18  cost of printing and distributing agency specific

         19  coded forms will increase.  Currently, we print in

         20  large quantities four forms, one in each of the

         21  covered languages, with a code 9, for all covered

         22  agencies, resulting in a lower per cost, unit cost.

         23  Under the proposed Intro., we would be required to

         24  supply at least 320 different versions of the voter

         25  registration forms, one for each agency, including
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          2  the 59 Community Boards, that would be covered under

          3  the revised Local Law 29, each in the four languages

          4  currently mandated by the Voting Rights Act;

          5  English, Spanish, Chinese, and Korean.  This may

          6  diminish as agencies comply with some of the

          7  proposed Intros. Other provisions, which would have

          8  the agencies include a voter registration form

          9  within their own applications.

         10                 The Board has a suggestion that we

         11  would like you to consider with regard to the method

         12  of distributing these agency specific, coded forms.

         13  Currently, the Board of Elections maintains the

         14  stock of Code 9 voter registration forms in our

         15  Manhattan warehouse.  As agencies need additional

         16  Code 9 forms, they make a request the Board, which

         17  then makes arrangements with the agency for them to

         18  pick up their requested supply of Code 9 forms.

         19  Under the new proposal, with each agency having a

         20  BOE established, specific coded form, we recommend

         21  that the agency be required to place their order

         22  with the Board of Elections, we will arrange for the

         23  printing of the form, but the agency will be

         24  responsible for the delivery arrangements and

         25  storage of their agencies specially coded forms.
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          2                 We would appreciate the opportunity

          3  to work with each of you, and your staffs as you

          4  develop these proposals.  The Board believes it can

          5  be of assistance in crafting a bill that clearly

          6  achieves your objectives, while not impairing the

          7  Boards ability to effectively discharge its

          8  responsibilities.

          9                 As always, my team and I are

         10  available to answer any of your questions.  Thank

         11  you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         13  much for your testimony.  Let me understand.

         14  Presently the state codes its forms, are you aware

         15  of that?  Are you aware of how many different codes,

         16  numbers they have?  Okay, because, to some extent,

         17  we are modeling ours off what is already being done

         18  by the state. They do not have 320 codes, how come

         19  we would wind up with 320 codes?  That is what,

         20  different versions?

         21                 MR. RAVITZ:  Mr. Perkins, we would

         22  not come up with 320 codes, we would come up with

         23  320 forms, because, again, of the four covered

         24  languages that would have to go, so it would be 84

         25  codes times that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Okay.

          3                 MR. RAVITZ:  Eighty codes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  And you have

          5  any estimate of the cost?

          6                 MR. RAVITZ:  We do not have a cost

          7  yet, but that is why we wanted to put this on record

          8  to this Committee today, that obviously, the first

          9  thing that caught all our attention would be, if we

         10  were, once we established the fact that our MIS

         11  department could give a specific code for each of

         12  the agencies, and the Community Boards, we realized

         13  then that there would be an additional cost because

         14  of the fact that we have to do it in the four

         15  languages.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Okay.  So, I

         17  would like to believe that you are supportive of the

         18  need to do the coding, and I would like to get some

         19  sense of what you might consider to be the important

         20  agencies to be coded.

         21                 MR. RAVITZ:  Well, our

         22  responsibility, Mr. Chairman, is to distribute the

         23  codes, the forms from the agencies that have asked.

         24  Obviously, if you see the sheet that we have given

         25  you of the breakdown, we are doing that.  We

                                                            14

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  certainly are not holding back the forms from any of

          3  the City agencies that have requested it.

          4  Obviously, though, when you look at the returns,

          5  that is a different story, but again, that is not

          6  under our preview.

          7                 We are certainly willing, though, to

          8  code these forms, so we can track it as well as any

          9  of the other good government groups, and possibly

         10  even the City Administration would want to know

         11  specifically what their City agencies are doing

         12  because at least we would have a number now of how

         13  many coded we give to a certain agency, and how many

         14  we get back.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Gale.  Council

         16  Member Brewer.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you,

         18  John.

         19                 My question is, have you sat down

         20  with DoITT or somebody else to figure out if there

         21  isn't an easier way to do this?

         22                 For instance, if to start with, each,

         23  at least going forward, the forms were barcoded,

         24  then there could be one barcode and some kind of a

         25  small machine could simply, at the agency, figure
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          2  out a way of coding them, and you would not have to

          3  have different codes on your end.

          4                 I believe there are technological

          5  solutions to this that might not have been available

          6  some years ago.  And the state, unfortunately, is

          7  not a model in this area.

          8                 MR. FERGUSON:  Councilwoman, our

          9  current registration system does have provisions to

         10  take in different coded forms.  We do not only

         11  process these code, what they are called, code 9

         12  forms, at the present.  So, for us to add some other

         13  codings, is sort of, relatively simple.  We do not

         14  do any barcoding on the registration forms,

         15  currently.  It is not to say that it is something we

         16  could not do at some point down the road, but you

         17  would still have to have each, each form would have

         18  to have a specific barcode, so it would, pretty much

         19  be the same.  It may save a little bit on the

         20  inputting.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Right.

         22                 MR. FERGUSON: Although, those forms

         23  have to be processed anyway, so.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  But I am just

         25  saying, in general have you had a conversation with
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          2  DoITT to make this simpler, so that even down the

          3  road, there could be an easier way to do it?

          4                 MR. FERGUSON:  We have not because we

          5  already have the provisions in the system to take in

          6  the codes, so we did not consult DoITT.

          7                 MR. RAVITZ: I am very comfortable

          8  that we can, with this code system, an example would

          9  be, if you just look at the list of the agencies --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Right,

         11  understood.

         12                 MR. RAVITZ: That already requested

         13  it, we would give each agency a code, whether it be

         14  901, starting at 901, 902, 903, 904, our staffs then

         15  would certainly have that listing in our voter

         16  registration departments in each of our borough

         17  offices, as they input it, it would be able to

         18  specifically put that down in a category, so if you

         19  look at the next page, which is our breakdown of a

         20  status report, we would be able to provide you,

         21  certainly, with a much more in detailed report,

         22  again, on how many, a certain agency, forms a

         23  certain agency requested, what date they requested

         24  them, and then, the returns of what we have gotten

         25  from those agencies.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  I

          3  appreciate that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Let me

          5  interrupt for a second because you are making

          6  reference to these charts, and how do we read these

          7  charts?  On the staff's report for in-house record

          8  of Code 9, 2003, would you take us through this a

          9  little bit so we can be sure what it is that we are

         10  reading?

         11                 MS. PERKINS:  Okay, as of April,

         12  which is when we came before your Committee, in

         13  April 2003, we started tracking closer the number of

         14  forms, so, if you look across in April, we received

         15  44, Code 9 forms from Manhattan, we received 73 from

         16  Brooklyn, we received 66 in Queens, 35 from the

         17  Bronx, and 6 from Staten Island, which gave us a

         18  total of 224 for the month of April, and the

         19  tracking goes through July on the first page, and

         20  then it continues from August through November.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  What is Code

         22  D?

         23                 MS. PERKINS:  That is CUNY.  And, at

         24  the end of the second page you will see where it

         25  says totals, Code 9, all the way across, we have

                                                            18

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  received 300, 3,339 Code 9 forms for all agencies

          3  during those months.

          4                 MR. RAVITZ: Just to clarify, those

          5  3,339 are valid registrations, meaning that they are

          6  valid voters that we got, we got some back that,

          7  obviously, people were not citizens or were not

          8  registered, so.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  How many of

         10  those, do you know?

         11                 MS. PERKINS:  We do not know, we do

         12  not keep track of the ones that are not processed,

         13  we only keep track of the ones that are processed.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  It would be

         15  good to get a sense of how much is bad, so to speak,

         16  how much, and why they are bad.

         17                 You know, one of the concerns I have

         18  is that we are moving forward in this direction, and

         19  I think it would be in the interest of the Board, in

         20  light of the concerns raised by Councilwoman Brewer,

         21  as well as some that I have, that the Board takes

         22  some pro- active efforts to come up with a proposal

         23  because, as to how you think this can be done, and

         24  what you think might be the appropriate agencies, or

         25  however, as opposed to suggesting that the status
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          2  quo is sufficient, because the status quo is not

          3  sufficient, and we do not want you to simply suggest

          4  that it is going to cost more, which we are prepared

          5  to appreciate, but we also need from you some

          6  appreciation as to what, how you think this can be

          7  done. We are relying on your expertise and your

          8  efforts towards that end.

          9                 MR. RAVITZ:  Well, I appreciate that,

         10  Mr. Chairman.  And I thank you for the Committee's

         11  ongoing support.  But we, I think proactively we

         12  certainly want to be of assistance, that is why I

         13  instructed Mr. Ferguson really to sit down with his

         14  team to come up with this coded form.  What we are

         15  presenting you today is something that the Board has

         16  never done before since this law went into effect.

         17                 We are now going to have in place

         18  specific breakdown for each agency, which will

         19  assist you and your colleagues, as well as, I

         20  assume, the Mayor's Office, and the other good

         21  government groups, to have a better understanding of

         22  how much paper is going out, and how much paper is

         23  coming back in, in terms of voter registration

         24  forms, so, in pro-active forms, I think this is a

         25  very good first step.
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          2                 We want to sit down with you to talk

          3  about, again, some of the -- and your staff, on some

          4  of the technical points that we might be able to

          5  assist you on in terms of mailings and things, the

          6  postage and the numbers, and the numbers, but we are

          7  coming here just saying it is going to cost money,

          8  we are saying we already have something in place,

          9  now we just need to make sure that we have the money

         10  to pay for it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Council Member

         12  Brewer.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  John, the

         14  question is, when, and I should know this because I

         15  sat on VAC for a long time, but when the agency, for

         16  instance Correction, obviously there are a lot of

         17  people who are potentially able to register to vote,

         18  when Correction gets a form and it is filled out, is

         19  there some way technologically that they could enter

         20  it into your database so that it does not have to be

         21  sent to you?  I understand there is a signature

         22  issue, I am very familiar with that.

         23                 MR. RICHMAN:  Council member, Steve

         24  Richman, the General Counsel.  No, that

         25  responsibility under the statute to review a
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          2  registration form, to determine if it meets the

          3  qualification of the person who should or should not

          4  be registered, is vested solely by the State

          5  Constitution in the Board of Elections.  A

          6  bipartisan team of a Democrat and a Republican

          7  review it, and make a determination whether or not

          8  to register someone, to deny registration, or to

          9  send it for further investigation and review.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Right.

         11                 MR. RICHMAN:  For example, if you

         12  fill out the form and do not check off the

         13  citizenship box, it automatically generates a letter

         14  saying you have to provide that information to us.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  But, see,

         16  that can be scanned in on-line.

         17                 MR. RICHMAN:  No, no.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Yes, it

         19  could.

         20                 MR. RICHMAN:  The original document

         21  is, the registration record itself, is the document

         22  that is reviewed to determine the validity by the

         23  team, the bipartisan team, so we need the paper

         24  document initially.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  But I am just
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          2  saying that there is potential here for some more

          3  technology, I promise you.

          4                 MR. RICHMAN:  I think you would need

          5  a change in state law.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  But I

          7  also think it is something to be reviewed to see if

          8  there is a cost saving in some further technology.

          9  I mean, we should think about it.  Thank you.

         10                 Other states are doing that.  I

         11  understand laws are different.  I understand that we

         12  have a signature issue.  I understand that we have

         13  different kinds of constraints, but I can promise

         14  you, with at least, to give it an initial look

         15  on-line might, in fact, be some way to save money.

         16  Just something to be considered.  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  As I decipher

         18  the distribution of voter registration forms, that

         19  chart that you have here, I see that the agency that

         20  has requested, for whom you have sent out the most

         21  forms, is the Taxi and Limousine Commission.  Second

         22  being the Department of Citywide Administrative

         23  Services.

         24                 MR. RAVITZ:  Mr. Chairman, again, if

         25  you looked up the Department of Consumer Affairs,
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          2  they have two different columns, again, broken up

          3  into three different columns, broken up in there, as

          4  you will see there, and again, we did it by date.

          5  So, starting from 2/2/03, but then again, we start

          6  again on 4/16, and that is when we started doing the

          7  tracking after we came before this Committee, to try

          8  to give you a better sense of what we were sending

          9  out.

         10                 So, it is not just TLC that has been

         11  getting the most amount.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  And the

         13  Department of Finance?

         14                 MR. FERGUSON:  Chairman, if I may?

         15  It is shown as date driven.  In other words, every

         16  time there was a distribution on a specific date,

         17  the agency is listed, so this is not a cumulative

         18  total for each agency.  It is broken down by the

         19  date it was requested and fulfilled.  So I think,

         20  the one that probably got the most is Consumer

         21  Affairs because they have multiple requests going

         22  down the lists.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  The Department

         24  of Limousine, Taxi and Limousine Commission has

         25  69,000.  The Consumer Affairs, if I add up all their
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          2  dates, I get 2 and 4 is 6, and 4 is 10, and 2 is 12,

          3  and 20 makes 32, about half.

          4                 MR. FERGUSON:  You are correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Of what the

          6  Taxi and Limousine Commission is doing, and DCAS is

          7  another 30,000, so they are second, maybe, but it

          8  seems interesting that --

          9                 MR. RICHMAN:  Mr. Chairman, I think

         10  the response is one the agencies requested.

         11  Consumer Affairs is co-located in the same building

         12  as us, so I have a feeling they take the elevator up

         13  to ask for the form, as opposed to thinking a large

         14  distribution.

         15                 If you remember, in April we had

         16  testimony last year that the Finance Department took

         17  several hundred thousand forms, and then they have

         18  not come back, so, I think the question becomes is,

         19  what warehousing capabilities do the Departments

         20  have themselves, and I guess in Consumer Affairs'

         21  case, they prefer to leave the materials in our

         22  warehouse rather than on their offices.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  It seems as if

         24  we are giving a lot of forms and getting very few

         25  back.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  That is

          3  correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  And it seems as

          5  if we do not know who is doing it, and who is

          6  actually using these forms.  Like, for instance,

          7  just Consumer Affairs and DCAS are about 100,000

          8  forms.

          9                 MR. RAVITZ:  Well, again, the Code,

         10  and that is why --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  It is like

         12  one-third of your total, you are only getting back

         13  3,000 from everybody.  So somebody is getting a lot

         14  of forms, a lot of forms, and nothing, we do not

         15  know what they are doing with them.  We are spending

         16  a lot of money on distributing forms to agencies

         17  that do not seem to be returning them, or at least

         18  there is no way to track what is happening with the

         19  work that you --

         20                 MR. RAVITZ:  Let me be again very

         21  clear, Mr. Chairman.  We are in the business of

         22  registering voters, and that is our number one

         23  mandate, and so we want to be able to distribute as

         24  many forms possible, and hopefully get them back and

         25  put them into our systems and now make them active
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          2  voters.

          3                 I am hoping that, again, this coding

          4  that we have presented to you today will be a step

          5  in that direction to at least give us a better road

          6  map of who is getting the forms, and how many are

          7  coming back but it is really out of our hands, once

          8  we have sent those agencies those forms, we cannot

          9  police them, we can only receive what they give back

         10  to us.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Sure.  But

         12  first, just if the Taxi and Limousine Commission is

         13  getting the most forms, we might want to code them.

         14                 MR. RAVITZ:  But we are going to code

         15  them.  We are going to, as soon as we get this,

         16  adopt this resolution, we will start coding them and

         17  we will be able to come back to you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Who else did

         19  you intend on coding?

         20                 MR. RAVITZ:  All of them.  Every

         21  agency that you have in the new Intro., plus each

         22  Community Board will have an individual code number,

         23  so that when we come back to you after a few months,

         24  we will be able to give you this form but in much

         25  more detail because you will have the codes, we will
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          2  have the codes, and we will know what we gave out,

          3  and what came back in from each of the City

          4  agencies, as well as each of the Community Boards.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Okay.  Thank

          6  you very much.

          7                 MR. RAVITZ:  Thank you.  Have a good

          8  holiday.

          9                 COUNSEL TOLLIN: Could we have Kele

         10  Williams from the Brennan Center, Ludovic Blain from

         11  Demos, Neal Rosenstein from NYPIRG, and Joanna

         12  Erenberg from Common Cause.

         13                 Could you each raise your right hand?

         14                 Do you solemnly swear and affirm the

         15  testimony you are about to give is the truth, the

         16  whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

         17                 MS. WILLIAMS:  I do.

         18                 MR. ROSENSTEIN:  I do.

         19                 MS. ERENBERG:  I do.

         20                 MR. BLAIN:  I do.

         21                 COUNSEL TOLLIN:  Thank you.  Could

         22  you each before speaking, state your name, and the

         23  agency you are affiliated with. We can start from

         24  the right, my right, your left.

         25                 MS. ERENBERG:  Joanna Erenberg,
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          2  Common Cause, New York.

          3                 MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Neal Rosenstein with

          4  New York Public Research Group.

          5                 MR. BLAIN:  Ludovic Blain, Demos.

          6                 MR. HAYDEN:  Joseph Hayden, Demos,

          7                 MS. WILLIAMS:  Kele Williams, Brennan

          8  Center for Justice.

          9                 MS. WOOD:  Erika Wood, Legal Action

         10  Center.

         11                 MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Great.  Hi.  I will

         12  just lead off and I will not be reading anywhere

         13  near what our whole testimony is there.  I will be

         14  very brief.

         15                 My name is Neal Rosenstein, I am the

         16  Government Reform Coordinator for NYPIRG and we were

         17  proud to work with Council Member Miller on the

         18  bill's original introduction, and now like to

         19  commend the Speaker, Council member Perkins and

         20  Gioia for these introductions today.

         21                 Council legislation is needed to

         22  strengthen Pro Voter because after nearly two years

         23  in office, unfortunately, the Bloomberg

         24  Administration gets a failing grade when it comes to

         25  encouraging citizens to register and vote.  Your own
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          2  investigative unit discovered that the vast majority

          3  of City agencies are not following the laws most

          4  basic at central tenant as of now, which is the

          5  distribution of voter registration forms.  And the

          6  City has failed to avail itself of numerous

          7  opportunities to strengthen their efforts that are

          8  under the law now, such as providing verbal

          9  assistance, collecting and transmitting forms, and

         10  attaching forms to their own.  All of which were

         11  recognized in your excellent report in this

         12  legislation.

         13                 I will briefly go why NYPIRG supports

         14  these provisions and some minor suggestions.

         15  Distribution of voter registration forms, the

         16  clients of City agencies, is at the heart of the

         17  Pro- Voter Act, and the simplest and most direct way

         18  of doing this, of course, is to attach forms to

         19  their own application forms for services, and it is

         20  time for this process, we believe, to be mandated,

         21  and not left up to the whim of the Mayoralty.

         22                 Verbal assistance to clients of

         23  government agencies, giving voter registration

         24  forms, is the norm throughout the United States,

         25  indeed, here in New York, verbal assistance is
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          2  already required in numerous agencies under the

          3   "Motor- Voter" Law, including DMV and the Human

          4  Resources Administration, and in calendar year, more

          5  than 5 million such "Motor- Voter" transactions,

          6  with the mandated verbal assistance component, took

          7  place in agencies, New York State agencies, across

          8  the City and state, and there is no reason why the

          9  clients served by agencies under "Pro Voter" deserve

         10  any less.  Verbal assistance would also lessen the

         11  chance that we would have problem forms, such as,

         12  individuals with limited English proficiency who are

         13  not citizens, mistakenly completing a form.

         14                 Forms at all should be collected by

         15  City agencies, and transmitted to the Board of

         16  Elections, it is much more efficient, but there is

         17  also another compelling reason under new Federal

         18  legislation, the Help America Vote Act (HAVA), many

         19  first time registrants will be subject to I.D.

         20  Checks at the polls, if they mail in their voter

         21  registration forms, the forms that distribution had

         22  mailed in.  If the agencies are actually collecting

         23  and hand delivering those forms, those individuals

         24  will not be subject to I.D. checks, there are other

         25  provisions, this only refers to certain, first- time
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          2  voters, but that would be a great help at the polls,

          3  less lines, and less chance for disenfranchisement

          4  of those voters.

          5                 These laws, or these Intros., also

          6  extend and improve Pro- Voters reach in other ways,

          7  there is no reason that someone applying for City

          8  housing shouldn't have the same opportunity to

          9  register to vote, as the person who is applying for

         10  a drivers' license, we don't have drivers' licenses,

         11  a lot of folks in New York, that is a great

         12  component of this bill.  We also support the call

         13  for guidelines to be developed by the Voter

         14  Assistance Commission, we hope for the Council to

         15  look for ways to strengthen the Commission in it's

         16  independence in the future. Thanks very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you,

         18  next.

         19                 MS. ERENBERG:  Common Cause/New York

         20  appreciates the opportunity to testify before this

         21  Committee.

         22                 As a civic organization with 15,000

         23  member in New York that seeks to give citizens a

         24  voice in the political process, we take voter

         25  registration very seriously.
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          2                 We are here today to present our

          3  support of the City's Pro- Voter Law and Speaker

          4  Miller's proposed legislation to enhance that law.

          5                 A healthy democracy is one in which

          6  citizens' make their voices heard by participating

          7  in the electoral process. However, New York City has

          8  1.75 million eligible, unregistered voters whose

          9  voices are effectively silenced.  This reality keeps

         10  our democracy from representing the broad spectrum

         11  of New York City's diverse population.  Any law that

         12  can strengthen voter registration and participation,

         13  should be embraced and fully complied with.

         14                 The Pro- Voter Law is especially

         15  important since New York is the only state in the

         16  country currently being sued by the United States

         17  Justice Department for failing to properly implement

         18  the National Voting Rights Act's provision.

         19                 Community board and agency- based

         20  voter registration helps to provide a broad range of

         21  citizens in New York City with access to voter

         22  registration.  It is outrageous that over 50 percent

         23  of the locations investigated by the council did not

         24  have voter registration forms available.  Those

         25  agencies that have not complied with the law have
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          2  hindered rather than helped New Yorkers seeking to

          3  participate in the democratic process.

          4                 Furthermore, those agencies and

          5  community boards that are required to have the voter

          6  registration forms must also implement training on

          7  verbal assistance for employees.  Laws that are

          8  passed with the intention of increased voter

          9  participation cannot be successful if City employees

         10  are misinformed about the voter registration

         11  process.  The collection and transmittal of voter

         12  registration forms to the Board of Elections by

         13  participating City offices is also essential to this

         14  process.

         15                 In this light, Speaker Miller's

         16  proposed legislation to enhance the current Pro-

         17  Voter Law, including the participation of City

         18  Housing Authority, could effectively get thousands

         19  of traditionally disenfranchised voters involved in

         20  the democratic process.

         21                 Common Cause/New York would also like

         22  to offer our support of registering high school

         23  students in their civics classes, and also giving

         24  them voter registration forms with their diplomas,

         25  as simple and effective ways of keeping generations
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          2  of eligible voters enfranchised.  Thank you.

          3                 MR. HAYDEN:  Yes, good morning, my

          4  name if Joseph Hayden, and I am the Director of an

          5  emerging 30- member voting rights coalition that

          6  includes Demos, Fortune Society, Community Services

          7  Society, Drop the Rock Coalition, Osbourne

          8  Association, Brennan Center for Justice at NYU

          9  School of Law, Central Brooklyn Churches, Malcolm X

         10  Grass Roots Movement, and a host of others.

         11                 We are working to ensure that all

         12  city and state government agencies actively engage

         13  people who interact with the criminal justice system

         14  to ensure that they have the opportunity to register

         15  to vote, and cast a vote.  We are also working to

         16  make sure that people who are now disenfranchised

         17  understand when they will become eligible, and why

         18  they should register and vote. Several other

         19  coalition members will be testifying here later.

         20                 We are a part of the national Right

         21  to Vote Campaign, which is an eight member national

         22  collaborative, working in five states to lower the

         23  legal barriers that prevent many people with felony

         24  convictions from voting.  With me is Ludovic Blain,

         25  Associate Director of the Democracy Program of
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          2  Demos, a national non- partisan public policy

          3  organization working to improve our democracy and to

          4  foster greater economic opportunity and less

          5  disparity.  They are one of the national leaders

          6  providing assistance to campaigns doing public

          7  education and legislative advocacy on issue of

          8  voting rights for citizens with felony convictions.

          9                 We applaud Gifford Miller, Deputy

         10  Majority Leader and Committee --

         11                 COUNSEL TOLLIN: Sir, if I can

         12  interrupt you just briefly.  We are going to have

         13  to, if you can hit the major points because we are

         14  trying to do each person within three minutes.

         15                 MR. HAYDEN:  Okay, all right.

         16                 COUNSEL TOLLIN:  We have seen the

         17  pages that you have, so.

         18                 MR. HAYDEN:  All right, good, let me

         19  make, clarify why I am here representing this

         20  coalition.

         21                 The primary concern of our coalition

         22  is the shear number of our community members that

         23  flow through our City jails, probation departments,

         24  and other City agencies.  On any given day, the are

         25  over 12,000 people on Rikers Island, a recent
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          2  hearing here, at a recent hearing here it was stated

          3  that the turnover of this population is over 60

          4  percent in seven days.  It has been suggested that

          5  over 100,000 pass through Rikers a year.  Those men

          6  and women come, primarily, from communities of poor

          7  people of color.  Our communities, the ones most

          8  impacted by de facto disenfranchisement. Coupled

          9  with the 23,000 a year coming out of the state

         10  prisons, uninformed in their voting rights, one can

         11  easily understand our concerns about this issue.

         12                 Voter registration must be addressed

         13  on intake and discharge in the Department of

         14  Probation and Corrections, specifically, in all

         15  other City agencies that interact with this

         16  underserved population.

         17                 MR. BLAIN:  My name is Ludovic

         18  Blaine, I am Associate Director of the Democracy

         19  Program, and let me touch on some specific points of

         20  the legislation.

         21                 We do support the requirement of

         22  annual training for City employees, and we hope that

         23  is not just around helping people to register to

         24  vote but also ensuring that City employees know who

         25  is eligible to vote.  We find that very few people
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          2  know the accurate information about the New York

          3  State law that disenfranchises people who are

          4  incarcerated, or are on parole, and says that

          5  everyone else is eligible to register to vote, and

          6  we want to make sure that that is part of any city-

          7  wide training.

          8                 We think the coding is important, we

          9  think that the Department of Corrections and the

         10  Department of Probation, as far as we can tell,

         11  don't really have a functioning program to both put

         12  out the voter registration forms allowing people to

         13  register to vote, and then do a second, and very

         14  important thing, which is for those who are in pre-

         15  trial detainee status, they need to have access to,

         16  and secure access to absentee ballots.  Registering

         17  pre trial detainee's who will be still detained

         18  during election day, means that they are registered

         19  and are guaranteed not to be able to vote, so any

         20  provision of voter registration forms needs to,

         21  also, have a secure mechanism for them to get

         22  absentee ballots.

         23                 One thing we want to bring up in

         24  California, some California community colleges,

         25  actually, after your register for the college, they
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          2  print out a voter registration form with all of your

          3  information on it, and you have to just sign it, and

          4  check the party affiliation.  Now that is different,

          5  I know that there is an issue around having these

          6  agencies actually accept the voter registration

          7  forms, but that is different than this, which is

          8  just having them print out the form, the person

          9  signs it, checks the party affiliation, and then

         10  that goes to the Board of Elections. One, it is much

         11  easier, and more people will fill it out, and two,

         12  it will make the Boards' life easier because they

         13  will be, actually, printed out forms, rather than

         14  having people sign it, and so, write everything,

         15  handwriting on it, it will be easier to read.      We

         16  did appreciate what was in the recommendation, but

         17  what is not in this bill, I think it is in another

         18  bill, to have high school seniors have the chance to

         19  register, and we also want to make sure that they

         20  know who is and is not eligible to vote.  We want

         21  you all to, we want to praise you and have you

         22  continue to exercise your oversight authority on the

         23  New York City Board of Elections, and you will hear

         24  why some of the barriers that have been posed by the

         25  City and State Board, that we are talking to them
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          2  around now, and one last piece that we suggest that

          3  you all do is to include agency voter registration

          4  totals in the MMR, in the Mayor's Management Report.

          5                 That is the only way that we know, at

          6  least once or twice a year we will have those

          7  numbers out there, and that City agencies will have

          8  to prepare the numbers so we can read them, rather

          9  than just having them whenever the City Council has

         10  an oversight hearing on it, so we strongly suggest

         11  that that be included in the MMR.  And, if possible,

         12  if it could be done by borough, that would be great.

         13

         14                 So, those are the specific pieces of

         15  legislation that we both are encouraged by, and that

         16  we hope that you can amend the existing proposal to

         17  include.

         18                 MS. WILLIAMS:  Good afternoon, Mr.

         19  Chairman and members of the Committee.  My name is

         20  Kele Williams, and I am an attorney at the Brennan

         21  Center for Justice at NYC School of Law. I am here

         22  with Erika Wood, an attorney at the Legal Action

         23  Center who joins in and will read point two of our

         24  testimony.

         25                 The Brennan Center's Democracy

                                                            40

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  Program works on a number of litigation, research

          3  and advocacy initiatives aimed at expanding voter

          4  participation and eliminating barriers that prevent

          5  registration and voting, especially by people of

          6  color and low income citizens, traditionally

          7  excluded from the polls.

          8                 The Legal Action Center is a non-

          9  profit, law and policy organization here in New York

         10  City that specializes in issues relating to the

         11  rights of those with criminal records, HIV/AIDS or

         12  addiction histories.

         13                 First, we would like to commend the

         14  sponsors of Intro. 608 and 613 for investigating

         15  agency compliance with the Pro- Voter Law and

         16  introducing legislation to fortify its provisions.

         17  We support the proposed amendments, and believe they

         18  are an important step towards making sure that

         19  agencies actively comply with their duty to assist

         20  voters with registration.

         21                 We would like to make two additional

         22  points.  I will touch on the first point, which is

         23  compliance with HAVA's I.D. requirements for first

         24  time voters, who register by mail.  The Brennan

         25  Center recommends that the bill be amended to ensure
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          2  that HAVA's new I.D. requirements are not imposed on

          3  first- time voters who register in person at a

          4  designated City agency.  HAVA provides that first-

          5  time voters who register by mail after January 1st,

          6  2003, and do not fall within certain important

          7  exceptions, shall be permitted to vote on a machine

          8  only after presenting one of the following items to

          9  election officers at the polling place;  a current

         10  and valid photo identification, utility bill, bank

         11  statement, government check, pay check, or a

         12  government documentation that shows the voter's name

         13  and address.  If the person votes by absentee

         14  ballot, she must submit the above I.D., along with

         15  her ballot.

         16                 Without proper safeguards, these I.D.

         17  Requirements potentially pose a serious barrier to

         18  voting for first- time voters, particularly in New

         19  York City where only 53 percent of those over 18

         20  possess a driver's license.  Accordingly, the City

         21  Council should amend the Pro- Voter Law to establish

         22  that individuals who register in person at a City

         23  agency, and provide their registration forms to

         24  agency officials for transmission to the Board shall

         25  not be subjected to HAVA's I.D. requirements.
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          2  HAVA's I.D. requirements should not apply to persons

          3  who register in person, even if the City agency then

          4  mails the form to the Board of Elections.  In the

          5  alternative, the Pro- Voter Law should mandate that

          6  City agencies hand deliver registration forms to the

          7  Board of Elections.

          8                 Erika Wood will now continue with the

          9  second point of our joint testimony.

         10                 MS. WOOD:  Good afternoon, I hope I

         11  have more than ten seconds.  Good afternoon, Mr.

         12  Chairman, and members of the Committee.  My name is

         13  Erika Wood.  I am an attorney with the Legal Action

         14  Center, an organization that, among other things,

         15  fights discrimination against people with criminal

         16  records by advocating to protect their civil rights,

         17  and to obtain employment and other services needed

         18  to successfully re- enter society.

         19                 The Legal Action Center and the

         20  Brennan Center for Justice support the testimony

         21  submitted by Joseph Hayden and Ludovic Blaine, which

         22  highlights how important it is that City agencies

         23  actively register people who interact with the

         24  criminal justice system.  We would like to make an

         25  additional comment on that subject.
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          2                 The Board of Elections should process

          3  registration forms in a manner that does not impose

          4  additional burdens on eligible voters who pass

          5  through the criminal justice system. Additionally,

          6  in overseeing compliance with the strengthened Pro

          7  Voter Law, the City Council should monitor the

          8  Board's registration practices with respect to those

          9  eligible voters in local jails, on probation, or who

         10  have completed their sentences.

         11                 Our recent efforts to eliminate

         12  registration barriers for people with past felony

         13  convictions demonstrate the need for the City

         14  Council's special attention to this issue.  A

         15  Brennan Center study found that more than half the

         16  counties in the state, including all of New York

         17  City, refused to register individuals with past

         18  felony convictions unless they provided various

         19  documents that were difficult or impossible to

         20  obtain.

         21                 All five boroughs in this city,

         22  previously required something called a certificate

         23  of relief, a document that is unavailable to anyone

         24  with multiple felony convictions, and even when

         25  theoretically available, is only issues, if at all,
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          2  at the parole board's discretion after lengthy

          3  waiting periods.  Together with the Brennan Center

          4  for Justice, and the Community Service Society, we

          5  brought these onerous practices to the state and

          6  local boards' attention.

          7                 As a result of discussions with our

          8  organizations and state criminal justice agencies,

          9  the State Board of Elections issued a memorandum on

         10  October 29, 2003 directing local boards to stop

         11  asking for documents proving eligibility.  The

         12  memorandum instructs local boards to register

         13  citizens with felony records in the same manner as

         14  they would any other eligible voter -- by accepting

         15  a completed voter registration form with the signed

         16  affidavit stating that the person is eligible to

         17  vote.  If there is a specific question about a

         18  person's eligibility, the memorandum advises local

         19  boards to consult a Department of Corrections web

         20  site that includes release and/or parole discharge

         21  dates.  At is November 18th meeting recently, the

         22  New York City Board of Elections said it will adhere

         23  to this policy, and the Board's Executive Director,

         24  Mr. Ravitz, has agreed to meet with us shortly to

         25  discuss how the policy will be implemented and
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          2  enforced.

          3                 We commend the City Board for its

          4  commitment to removing registration barriers for

          5  people with past convictions. We are concerned,

          6  however, about other practices that could

          7  disenfranchise people in the criminal justice

          8  system.  For example, citizens who vote by absentee

          9  ballot from local jails maintain their previous

         10  residence for voting purposes.  Inmates at local

         11  jails should be advised to include their home

         12  address on their registration applications, and the

         13  board should not reject applications that mistakenly

         14  include a jail or other address.

         15                 In its oversight of the Pro- Voter

         16  Law, the City Council should monitor and work with

         17  the Board of Elections to ensure that registration

         18  practices do not unwittingly disenfranchise voters

         19  registered by city criminal justice agencies. City

         20  agencies should also be educated about voter

         21  eligibility requirements, in other words, who can

         22  vote, and the new registration policy for people

         23  with past convictions.  Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         25  much for your testimony, and your continued work in
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          2  this area.  We have a great concern about the fact

          3  that so many who are eligible to vote, with past

          4  convictions, not register because either they do not

          5  think they are entitled to vote, or because those

          6  who are registering them do not think they are

          7  entitled to register to vote, so there is a wealth

          8  of ignorance, if you will, that needs to be

          9  dispelled on this matter, so we appreciate your

         10  raising it as thoroughly and effectively as you

         11  have.

         12                 Do you have any proposals related to

         13  what we can do in that regard, whether with the

         14  Board of Elections, or through the Council or so?

         15                 MR. BLAIN:  I can talk on some

         16  pieces, and then you can talk and then you can talk

         17  about what you have been discussing with them.

         18                 We do want to make sure, first, that

         19  people are able to register to vote, which means

         20  that they need to know that they are eligible, like

         21  you said, and the basis of that is first, making

         22  sure that it is very clear in the training for city

         23  employees, that you, not only say, for example,

         24  whose is not eligible but also you proactively say

         25  who is eligible.  In other words, it is our
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          2  experience that if you just tell people, folks who

          3  are incarcerated, or on parole are ineligible,

          4  people do not make the leap to understand that means

          5  everyone else is.  I think it is a crucial point

          6  that people who are getting registered at Rikers and

          7  other pre-trial detainee's are told specifically a

          8  few things. One, do not put the jail address on

          9  there.  Two, that the city employees that are

         10  running that institution need to know that these

         11  people need to get an absentee ballot back, and

         12  there needs to be some understanding of how long the

         13  person is expected to be there, to know whether they

         14  should get an absentee ballot sent there, or whether

         15  they will probably be back home in time to register.

         16  So there is a lot of pieces like that that I think

         17  we need to discuss, the framework that this bill

         18  sets up will be very, very good, and we just need to

         19  make sure that the information that the city workers

         20  get is accurate in gaging and educational.

         21                 MR. HAYDEN:  Yes, I think that based

         22  on the testimony of the previous panel, it appears

         23  to be that all they do is give out, hand out voter

         24  registration forms.  This is basically what they do

         25  on Rikers Island, in the country jails, they just
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          2  put them out there, just like toilet paper, and we

          3  talking about a population that is virtually

          4  apolitical, and if research on the demographics of

          5  this population is accurate, 60 percent of them are

          6  high school dropouts.  So, we need something more

          7  than just putting forms in these places, the

          8  Department of Probation, the Department of

          9  Corrections needs something more pro- active in

         10  terms of informing them of their right to vote also,

         11  besides having the availability of voter

         12  registrations forms available for them.

         13                 MS. WILLIAMS:  Looking forward to

         14  things that the Council may be able to do with HAVA

         15  coming up in the future, we would encourage the

         16  Council to look into the system by which the Board

         17  of Elections is advised when people become eligible

         18  to vote. Currently, there is a system in place where

         19  the Board of Elections is informed when people

         20  become disenfranchised, when they loose their right

         21  to vote because of a felony conviction, but there is

         22  no, sort of, uniform system in place for letting

         23  people know, letting the Board know when people are

         24  eligible, once again, to vote, and under HAVA there

         25  is going to be a computerized statewide database, as
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          2  most of us know, that HAVA specifically requires to

          3  be linked to criminal justice agency databases, and

          4  so, I would encourage the Council in it's oversight

          5  and resolutions that it plans to propose either in

          6  the context of the Pro- Voter Law, or specifically,

          7  in the HAVA context that we are monitoring and

          8  making sure that the information is going both ways.

          9                 MR. ROSENSTEIN:  I will be very, very

         10  brief.  There was some excellent points about

         11  getting agencies to make sure that they give folks

         12  the right information.  The bill has this wonderful

         13  provision in it which allows agencies to, besides

         14  the voter registration form, distribute guidelines

         15  and directions and part of our suggestions is that

         16  those written suggestions, which an agency like

         17  Corrections come up with be vetted first, with the

         18  City Board of Elections, the State Board of

         19  Elections, to make sure, or VAC, that they include

         20  all of this information, both pro- active and

         21  otherwise.  So, that is another good part of the

         22  bill.

         23                 MR. BLAIN:  And there are programs

         24  that we can connect the folks who are putting this

         25  kind of program together in Connecticut, and a few
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          2  other states, where there is voter registration

          3  information, and actually voter registration

          4  absentee ballot work going on in places in

          5  Connecticut, and Philadelphia, Kentucky, Nebraska,

          6  and a few other places.  So, we like to engage, we

          7  know again, that it is a state legislature that

          8  decides who is and is not eligible, and, but the

          9  City should not wait for them to change those laws

         10  in order to make sure that everyone who the state

         11  says is eligible knows that they are, and everyone,

         12  as you said, who is registering them, whether they

         13  are city agencies or for that matter, non- profit

         14  service providers should also be made to know what

         15  the law actually is, and to know that many of the

         16  people that they are providing service for, unless

         17  they are currently on parole, are actually eligible,

         18  and should be registered to vote.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you all

         20  very much for your testimony and your suggestions as

         21  to how we can improve the process, especially as it

         22  relates to those who were incarcerated, and who may

         23  be eligible to vote.  Council member Addabbo.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you,

         25  Mr. Chair.  And to the panel, thank you for your
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          2  time and testimony today.

          3                 A question is for the whole panel, in

          4  representing the organizations that you do, do you

          5  actively participate in voter registration drives,

          6  and if you do, how often do you do them, and what

          7  methods do you use?

          8                 MR. ROSENSTEIN:  At NYPIRG, I guess

          9  our hands-on registration goes from a low of maybe

         10  16,000 in off election years, no offense, but like

         11  this one, to probably upwards of 40 or 50,000 in the

         12  upcoming Presidential, we will do that from tabling

         13  with students.  A lot of hands-on in the subway

         14  system as well, close to election day.

         15                 MR. BLAIN:  In Demos, we do mostly

         16  policy, and work with advocates, so we do not do

         17  direct voter registration but we do help people

         18  figure out what information needs to be in the voter

         19  registration picture so it is more accurate and

         20  engaging.

         21                 MR. HAYDEN:  I am just in the process

         22  of building this coalition, and just started working

         23  on it in June, it has already grown to over 30

         24  organizations, it is growing every day. Coming next

         25  year, you will be hearing about us and we will be

                                                            52

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  out in the community, on a grass- roots level

          3  working very hard to reach that population that is

          4  virtually marginalized and ignored, which are ex-

          5  offenders and the communities that they come from.

          6                 MS. WOOD:  At the Legal Action

          7  Center, we provide direct legal services for people

          8  with criminal records in a variety of bases, whether

          9  it be housing discrimination, employment

         10  discrimination, any other problems that they come up

         11  against, and as part of that, we also help people

         12  get their rap, their rap sheets and clean up their

         13  rap sheets, so we have a lot of direct client

         14  contact with people with criminal records, and in

         15  providing those services we are constantly providing

         16  voter registration forms, advising them of their

         17  rights to register to vote, and counseling them when

         18  they do have problems registering to vote.

         19                 The problems that we can up with,

         20  that led to the Brennan Center study, actually were

         21  brought to us directly by people with criminal

         22  records, who had attempted to register to vote

         23  throughout the City, and had received documentation

         24  saying that they could not register until they

         25  provided a certificate of relief.  So, we are
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          2  working hard with our clients, to make this better.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

          4  much.  You know, let me just say as we move on, this

          5  Pro-Voter Law is intended to increase voter

          6  registration and voter participation, and we know

          7  that the state "Motor-Voter Law" has proven to be

          8  successful, at least by comparison in terms of the

          9  numbers, so what you are doing is very, very

         10  valuable to us in terms of helping us truly increase

         11  participation, and we really want you to know we

         12  appreciate it. Thank you.

         13                 Next, we are going to hear from the

         14  Administration. Anthony Crowell, Special Counsel,

         15  and then members of the New York City Housing

         16  Authority, and the Human Resources Administration.

         17                 COUNSEL TOLLIN:  Okay, good

         18  afternoon.  Could you raise your right hand?  Do you

         19  solemnly swear and affirm that the testimony you are

         20  about to give is the truth, the whole truth, and

         21  nothing but the truth?

         22                 MR. CROWELL:  I do.

         23                 COUNSEL TOLLIN: Okay, thank you.

         24  Could you state your name and your affiliation with

         25  the Administration?
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          2                 MR. CROWELL:  Sure, it is Anthony

          3  Crowell and I am Special Counsel to Mayor Michael

          4  Bloomberg.

          5                 Good afternoon, Mr. Chair and members

          6  of the Committee.  My name is Anthony Crowell and I

          7  am Special Counsel to Mayor Michael R. Bloomberg.  I

          8  also represent the Mayor's Office on the New York

          9  City Voter Assistance Commission and work closely

         10  with the Mayor's Office of Immigrant Affairs.

         11                 As a general matter, on behalf of the

         12  Mayor, and the New York City Housing Authority, I

         13  would like to thank the Council for holding this

         14  hearing and joining with the Administration and

         15  NYCHA in an ongoing review of options to expand the

         16  franchise for all New Yorkers.

         17                 I am here to offer the

         18  Administration's and NYCHA's position concerning

         19  proposed amendments to Local Law 29 of 2000. Local

         20  Law 29 established a vast program covering numerous

         21  agencies and requiring the distribution of hundreds

         22  of thousands of forms annually, together with

         23  written applications for agency services or renewal

         24  of services, through in- person distribution, the

         25  mail and other means.  The following offices have
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          2  been designated as participating voter registrations

          3  agencies for purposes of the local law;  The

          4  Administration for Children's Services, The City

          5  Clerk, the Civilian Complaint Review Board, The

          6  Commission on Human Rights, Community Boards, The

          7  Department of Small Business Services, The

          8  Department of Citywide Administrative Services, The

          9  Department of Consumer Affairs, The Department of

         10  Correction, The Department of Employment, which is

         11  now, has become The Department of Small Business

         12  Services, the Department of Environmental

         13  Protection, The Department of Finance, The

         14  Department of Homeless Services, The Department of

         15  Housing Preservation and Development, The Department

         16  of Health and Mental Hygiene, The Department of

         17  Parks and Recreation, The Department of Probation,

         18  The Taxi and Limousine Commission, The Department of

         19  Transportation and The Department of Youth and

         20  Community Development.

         21                 Voter registration forms are to be

         22  physically incorporated into covered agencies'

         23  applications and are to be included with agency

         24  communications sent through the U. S. Mail, for the

         25  purposes of supplying a person with an application
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          2  for services or renewal of services.  Local Law 29

          3  also incorporates an opportunity to request a voter

          4  registration application into any application for

          5  agency services or renewal of services relating to

          6  such services provided on computer terminals, the

          7  World Wide Web or the Internet.  The law also

          8  requires the participating agencies, departments,

          9  divisions and offices that make available

         10  registration forms to display promotional materials

         11  previously approved by the City and State Boards of

         12  Elections.

         13                 Finally, the law provides covered

         14  agencies with discretion as to whether, one, to

         15  collect forms and transmit them to the New York City

         16  Board of Elections, or two, provide verbal

         17  assistance with voter registration forms.

         18                 Intro. 608 would fundamentally change

         19  Local Law 29 in several ways.  First, the bill would

         20  eliminate covered agency discretion and mandate that

         21  verbal assistance be provided in completing a voter

         22  registration form to anyone requesting not just an

         23  application for City services, but also any

         24  generalized agency assistance.  Covered agencies

         25  would also be required to provide to each applicant
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          2  the same degree of assistance with regard to the

          3  completion of the registration application form as

          4  is provided by the agency with regard to the

          5  completion of its own form, unless the applicant

          6  refuses such level of assistance.  Covered agencies

          7  would be required to collect and transmit those

          8  forms to the Board of Elections upon individual

          9  request.

         10                 Second, the bill would extent agency

         11  coverage of Local Law 29 to the New York City

         12  Housing Authority and the Human Resources

         13  Administration.

         14                 Finally, the bill would transform the

         15  status of the Voter Assistance Commission, known as

         16  VAC, from a voluntary coordinating and advisory body

         17  to one with formal rule making authority required to

         18  establish a mandatory annual Pro- Voter Law training

         19  program for covered agencies or coordinate training

         20  between covered agencies and any existing training

         21  programs at the City or State Board of Elections.

         22                 The Administration has a series of

         23  legal and policy concerns about the proposed

         24  amendments, the most significant of which center on

         25  the bill's provisions mandating verbal assistance
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          2  and collection relating to voter registration forms.

          3                      In general, executive agencies

          4  covered by Local Law 29 have not provided verbal

          5  assistance relating to, or collected and

          6  transmitted, voter registration forms, other than to

          7  refer questions to the Board of Elections' help

          8  line.

          9                 As I offered in my testimony and

         10  responses before this Committee on April 10, 2003,

         11  the Administration's approach to these issues has

         12  focused on preventing potentially inaccurate

         13  information or improper advice from being given to

         14  potential registrants by a wide range of City

         15  employees.  It is also focused on preventing the

         16  potential for intentional or negligent mishandling

         17  of voter registration forms that can otherwise be

         18  easily mailed directly by agency clients to the

         19  Board of Elections. Most importantly, I also

         20  suggested that mandating verbal assistance and form

         21  collection could run afoul of a generalized policy

         22  concern at the time to ensure that all aliens be

         23  given access to City services without fear of

         24  negative consequences from disclosure of their

         25  immigration status.
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          2                 As you well know, that policy concern

          3  has since been formalized in the Citywide Privacy

          4  Policy found in Executive Order 41, signed by Mayor

          5  Bloomberg.  E.O. 41 was drafted as a result of

          6  extensive discussions and cooperations between the

          7  Mayor and the Council.  It prohibits, generally,

          8  City employees from both, from inquiring about a

          9  person's immigration status, unless it is required

         10  by law or necessary to determine program, service,

         11  or benefit eligibility, as well as from disclosing

         12  confidential information, including immigration

         13  status, contained in City records.

         14                 As this Committee acknowledged on

         15  April 10, 2003, an individual wishing to register to

         16  vote must disclose his or her immigration status in

         17  order to submit a complete voter registration form.

         18  By its terms, the threshold question on the voter

         19  registration form as distributed by the City's Board

         20  of Elections, and thus by all Local Law 29 covered

         21  agencies, reads as follows: "Are you a U. S.

         22  Citizen?".  Next to the question are two boxes

         23  requesting the applicant either to check "Yes" or

         24   "No."  The question states further, in bold capital

         25  letters, "IF NO, DO NOT COMPLETE THIS FORM".
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          2                 It would seem that any mandatory

          3  program of verbal assistance and collection relating

          4  to voter registration forms under Intro. 608 would

          5  have to be predicated on a threshold inquiry about

          6  an applicant's immigration status by a City

          7  employee.  This would be in direct contravention of

          8  E.O. 41 and does not occur under the current system

          9  of distribution.

         10                 Under the current system, an

         11  individual requesting an application for City

         12  services is distributed a voter registration form to

         13  complete, or discard, at their discretion and in

         14  privacy.  If an individual wants to register to

         15  vote, but discovers that he or she is ineligible to

         16  do so because of immigration status, he or she can

         17  discard it discretely and in private.  No City

         18  employee ever asks the individual about his or her

         19  immigration status;  nor does the individual ever

         20  raise any suspicions at the agency as to why he or

         21  she may have declined to complete and submit the

         22  registration form.

         23                 Indeed, Intro. 608's mandatory verbal

         24  assistance and collection program would necessarily

         25  create an environment where virtually every person

                                                            61

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  who walked into a City agency could, potentially, be

          3  asked to disclose, in fact or in effect, his or her

          4  immigration status, regardless of whether disclosure

          5  of immigration status was required by law or even

          6  necessary to determine eligibility for the

          7  underlying program, service, benefit or other

          8  assistance that initially brought that individual

          9  into the agency.

         10                 Such circumstances could involve

         11  individuals, including undocumented aliens, going to

         12  HPD to report that a landlord was refusing to

         13  provide heat in the winter, or to the Buildings

         14  Department to report loose scaffolding near where

         15  children play, to the Health Department to report

         16  rat infestation in housing and neighborhoods, or to

         17  the Department of Consumer Affairs to report being

         18  exploited by a merchant.  Also, because the

         19  requirements of Local Law 29 apply to contractors,

         20  Intro. 608 could effectively lead to private

         21  entities under contract with the City to provide

         22  assistance and unnecessarily collect information

         23  about undocumented aliens.

         24                 In addition, it should be noted that

         25  if under Intro. 60 an alien felt compelled to
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          2  register to vote by misrepresenting him, or her-

          3  self as a U.S. Citizen on the form, so as not to

          4  reveal actual immigration status to agency personnel

          5  providing the verbal assistance, he or she could

          6  later be denied U.S. Citizenship because federal law

          7  prohibits voter registration by an alien and

          8  establishes it as a ground for such denial and

          9  removal from the United States.

         10                 Accordingly, Intro. 608's verbal

         11  assistance and collection scheme would effectively

         12  gut the "don't ask", and compromise the "don't

         13  tell", provisions governing agency personnel in

         14  Executive Order 41, ripping out the Order's heart.

         15  Despite Intro. 608's pro- voter intent, the bill is

         16  clearly not pro immigrant.

         17                 Intro. 608 poses a grave threat to

         18  the important goals of E.O. 41, especially because

         19  Intro. 608 already contemplates the sensitive nature

         20  of information required by voter registration forms

         21  by deeming disclosure of such information, including

         22  a declination to register, by City agencies or

         23  employees, for other than voter registration

         24  purposes, an unwarranted invasion of personal

         25  privacy pursuant to state and local law.
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          2                 Nonetheless, the Administration

          3  understand that the Council could not have intended

          4  to propose in Intro. 608 a wholesale repeal of the

          5  hard- fought for protections afforded to the

          6  immigrant community by Executive Order 41.  If those

          7  provisions were implemented, they would have a

          8  chilling effect on the City's ability to provide

          9  essential services to immigrant communities,

         10  something that the Administration and Council would

         11  not want to see happen.  Accordingly, the

         12  Administration cannot support Intro. 608

         13  However, we have other legal concerns.

         14                 First, concerning NYCHA and HRA,

         15  Intro. 608 extends the earlier voter registration

         16  scheme of Local Law 29 to the New York City Housing

         17  Authority, an independent entity with powers

         18  specified in the Public Housing Law.  In addition to

         19  the general legal question about the Council's

         20  authority to place Pro- Voter Law mandates on NYCHA,

         21  NYCHA questions whether the expansive program

         22  envisioned by the bill would be consistent with

         23  funding restrictions imposed on public housing

         24  agencies by the U. S. Department of Housing and

         25  Urban Development.
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          2                 In addition, NYCHA shares many of the

          3  concerns of other City agencies, such as that under

          4  Intro. 608 applicants might mistakenly believe that

          5  to qualify for public benefits one either must also

          6  complete a voter registration form if attached to an

          7  application, or be a U.S. Citizen.  NYCHA would also

          8  like the Council to note that applications are

          9  currently available at numerous NYCHA locations,

         10  including housing management offices, community

         11  centers and senior centers, served by literally

         12  thousands of different staff members in many

         13  different departments.  If Intro. 608 required that

         14  all staff members distributing applications must be

         15  well- versed in voter registration eligibility

         16  requirements, passage of the bill could have the

         17  unintended consequence of forcing agencies like

         18  NYCHA to limit the points at which applications are

         19  made available to the public.  It should be noted

         20  that if the Council were to add NYCHA to Local Law

         21  29 as it currently exists, without the mandated

         22  duties to provide assistance and transmit completed

         23  applications, many of NYCHA's concerns would be

         24  substantially mitigated.

         25                 With respect to the inclusion of the

                                                            65

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  Human Resources Administration in the amended law,

          3  the Council would take note that the HRA, by virtue

          4  of its status as the City's welfare agency, is

          5  already subject to the provisions of the National

          6  Voter Registration Act.  NVRA requires distribution

          7  of voter registration forms to those who apply for

          8  federal welfare benefits.

          9                 We also have concerns about the

         10  provisions concerning the Voter Assistance

         11  Commission, VAC.  Intro. 608 would also provide a

         12  mandatory training and rule making role to VAC, an

         13  entity that was designed to be a voluntary

         14  coordinating and advisory mechanism rather than a

         15  vehicle for mandates upon Mayoral agencies.  This

         16  new role may trigger a referendum.

         17                 We also have concerns about the

         18  provisions concerning Degree of Assistance.  In the

         19  absence of a provision limiting any third party

         20  right of action, Intro. 608 may invite technical

         21  legal proceedings of dubious utility and merit

         22  challenging the precise "degree of assistance" or

         23  whether a voter registration form was offered in

         24  marginal interactions between agency staff and the

         25  public.

                                                            66

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 I also note that the current policy

          3  and legal context of this bill is quite different

          4  from the context Of Local Law 29 back in 2000, that

          5  reflected an agreement between the Mayoralty and the

          6  Council as to the resources that could appropriately

          7  be provided to voter registration by agencies

          8  consistent with their primary missions under law.

          9  By removing the discretion afforded to agencies as

         10  to whether verbal assistance, acceptance of forms

         11  and printing of incorporated forms are appropriate,

         12  the bill may have a significant adverse effect upon

         13  the judicially recognized power granted to Mayoral

         14  agencies by the Charter to determine the resources

         15  and opportunities that they may provide for voter

         16  assistance activities.  Indeed, such an effect may

         17  also trigger the referendum requirements of the

         18  Charter and Municipal Home Rule Law.

         19                 I note that the bill was circulated

         20  less than a week ago, and that further review of

         21  these issues is being conducted by the Law

         22  Department.  In addition, because the bill imposes

         23  significant unfunded mandates on City agencies, the

         24  Office of Management and Budget is also reviewing

         25  the bill closely.  Even if the legal problems could
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          2  be addressed, it is doubtful that the bill reflects

          3  the most cost- efficient means of promoting voter

          4  registration.

          5                 I would like to address the

          6  Administration's continuing implementation of Local

          7  Law 29 in its current form.  To that end, while the

          8  Administration acknowledges the important oversight

          9  role played by the Council, it takes issue with a

         10  report released in September by the Council,

         11  entitled "Voter Registration Forms Not Available

         12  Here: New York City Community Boards and City

         13  Agencies".  The report detailed results of an

         14  investigation by the Council Investigation Division

         15  finding that more than half of the Community Boards

         16  and City agency sites tested were not in compliance

         17  with Local Law 29.  The Administration's review of

         18  the report suggests that some of the conclusions

         19  drawn from the investigation may be erroneous

         20  because they may have been based on a flawed testing

         21  methodology.  This apparent flaw suggests a lack of

         22  understanding of the contours of the Pro- Voter Law

         23  by the Investigation Division.

         24                 The study looked at just a few

         25  locations of just five Mayoral agencies outside
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          2  Manhattan;  it is doubtful that this constituted a

          3  representative sample of Administration compliance.Further

          4  , it is not clear whether staff members spoke with

          5  employees responsible for implementation of Local

          6  Law 29, or took any steps to ascertain for

          7  themselves whether forms were available.  It is not

          8  even clear that they fully understood the mandate of

          9  the law to provide voter registration forms to those

         10  who make written applications for services.  Indeed,

         11  they did not itemize the application packages, if

         12  any, that are distributed at the sites that they

         13  visited, nor did they specify which of those

         14  packages, if any, lacked voter registrations forms.

         15  The study also did not note whether any facilities

         16  provided services to prevent danger to the life,

         17  health, or safety of individuals or the public; such

         18  services are exempted from the local law.  Hence,

         19  the conclusions that resulted from these

         20  methodological flaws cannot be relied upon in

         21  determining whether there has been substantial

         22  citywide compliance with the particular mandates of

         23  Local Law 29.

         24                 Nonetheless, recognizing that a

         25  program of such broad scope will, by its nature,
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          2  always be a work in progress, to be revisited and

          3  improved, the Administration has committed to making

          4  consistent efforts to ensure that substantial

          5  compliance with the law is maintained, and that the

          6  Citywide voter registration program is improved

          7  where practicable, consistent with agency missions

          8  and operations.  Please be assured that the findings

          9  of the report, despite its apparent shortcomings,

         10  have been discussed and referred for appropriate

         11  action within the Administration.

         12                 Although the Administration cannot

         13  support Intro. 608 for the reasons detailed above,

         14  it welcomes the opportunity in the very near future

         15  to work with the Council to develop administrative

         16  solutions, including those to more effectively

         17  utilize VAC, to expand the franchise in New York

         18  City.

         19                 Thank you and I will be happy to

         20  answer any questions.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         22  much.  It is interesting to note that the

         23  Administration is using the Executive Order, or the,

         24  related to immigrant rights to challenge this, this

         25  608.  I believe, however, that we recognized that in

                                                            70

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  this bill there needed to be those protections, such

          3  that they would not be the kind of concerns that you

          4  are raising, so, I am not quite sure why you insist

          5  that those matters that still are a problem.

          6                 MR. CROWELL:  Well, the only

          7  provisions in the bill that seem to suggest anything

          8  about privacy would be that agency employees cannot

          9  disclose information that comes into their

         10  possession.

         11                 But if you recall, and I believe we,

         12  actually you and myself were, actually in

         13  discussions about this, that concern was that people

         14  not be asked about their immigration status, that

         15  they not put on a piece of paper or report anything

         16  to an agency personnel something about --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  They are not

         18  required to do that is this law.

         19                 MR. CROWELL:  Well, verbal assistance

         20  and disclosing forms --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Does not

         22  require that they fill out that information or that

         23  they fill out those forms, that is not a requirement

         24  of the applicant.  We are not doing anything here

         25  that the state is not already doing.
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          2                 MR. CROWELL:  Well, the state, to my

          3  knowledge, does not have Executive Order 41's

          4  protections for its immigrant communities the way

          5  that the City has and protect the relationship that,

          6  between undocumented aliens, for sure, and agency

          7  line personnel who would be, effectively, required

          8  to ask, whether it be for, in a written application

          9  for services or any generalized assistance, whether

         10  someone wanted to register to vote, and whether

         11  someone, obviously, as a predicate, to even

         12  beginning to register to vote, qualified to register

         13  to vote.  By virtue of saying, "Would you like to

         14  register to vote?", and someone saying, "Oh, yes",

         15  then they may say, "Well, would you like

         16  assistance?", and then the question is, "Are you a

         17  U.S. Citizen", it may effectively force someone to

         18  either reveal their immigration status or get out

         19  into the community that they should not come into

         20  the agency because they will be asked about their

         21  immigration status.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  My

         23  understanding of the law that we are proposing

         24  allows them to, requires the clerk to inform them

         25  that they do not have to answer the questions, or
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          2  they do not have to register to vote, so, we are not

          3  putting them in a situation in which there is a

          4  conflict with the Executive Order.

          5                 MR. CROWELL:  I do not think, I think

          6  the law does not give that kind of specificity at

          7  this point, to my recollection.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  We do not agree

          9  with your interpretation of the law.

         10                 MR. CROWELL:  Okay.  Well, we feel

         11  that the law would have dire consequences on the

         12  immigrant community and our ability to interact in a

         13  confidential and protective way of immigration

         14  status.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I appreciate

         16  your point of view.  We disagree.  Thank you very

         17  much for your testimony.

         18                 MR. CROWELL:  Certainly.  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Next we are

         20  going to hear from the Voter Assistance Commission.

         21                 Commissioner Jane Kalmus, Zella

         22  Jones, and Ron Hayduk.

         23                 COUNSEL TOLLIN:  Good afternoon,

         24  could you each raise your right hand?  Do you

         25  solemnly swear and affirm the testimony you are
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          2  about to give is the truth, the whole truth, and

          3  nothing but the truth?

          4                 COMMISSIONER KALMUS:  I do.

          5                 MR. HAYDUK:  I do.

          6                 MS. JONES:  I do.

          7                 COUNSEL TOLLIN:  Thank you.  Could

          8  you, each, before speaking, state your name and your

          9  affiliation with VAC? Commissioner Kalmus.

         10                 COMMISSIONER KALMUS:  Commissioner

         11  Jane Kalmus, Vice Chairman of the Voter Assistance

         12  Commission.

         13                 MS. JONES:  Zella Jones, Market by

         14  Market Communications.  I have been hired by the

         15  Voter Assistance Commission to put together some

         16  guidelines.

         17                 MR. HAYDUK:  My name is Ron Hayduk, I

         18  am a former coordinator of the New York City Voter

         19  Assistance Commission, currently I teach Political

         20  Science at the Borough of Manhattan Community

         21  College.  I am also here representing the

         22  Professional Staff Congress, the union of faculty

         23  and staff at CUNY.

         24                 COMMISSIONER KALMUS:  Thank you.

         25  Good afternoon Chairman Perkins, and members of the
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          2  Government Operations Committee.

          3                 Once again, I should like to commend

          4  your Committee, this time for putting together a

          5  plan to amend the New York City Pro- Voter Law by

          6  mandating annual training for agencies, verbal

          7  assistance for the public, and agency transmission

          8  of registration forms.  Efforts by the Voter

          9  Assistance Commission to comply with the current

         10  Pro- Voter Law were all but ignored by the previous

         11  administration, and the record of the present

         12  administration leaves even more to be desired.  I

         13  welcome this, and future occasions to discuss how

         14  better to proceed with the Pro- Voter effort, which

         15  must include the restructuring of the Voter

         16  Assistance Commission, along with a budget large

         17  enough to accomplish, once again, with a budget

         18  large enough to accomplish the mission of this

         19  important registration effort.

         20                 The proposed amended law assigns the

         21  Voter Assistance Commission the task of preparing

         22  and distributing written agency guidelines, together

         23  with suggested verbal assistance, relating to

         24  eligibility to register, and for completing the

         25  form.
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          2                 VAC will also develop and distribute

          3  information and promotional materials to the public

          4  relating to the purpose of this section.  To this

          5  end, I am now pleased to ask my colleague, Zella

          6  Jones, to address you on the extraordinary efforts

          7  undertaken by her, on behalf of VAC, to produce

          8  written guidelines that the previous administration

          9  refused to have printed because it included the

         10  verbal assistance component.  Permit me now to

         11  introduce Zella Jones.

         12                 MS. JONES:  Good afternoon, Chairman

         13  Perkins.  I have delivered to you a copy of

         14  guidelines and a brochure that was produced in the

         15  year 2000, and which I will now address.

         16                 In November of 2000, I was approached

         17  by the Voter Assistance Commission, and the New York

         18  City Corporate Council to develop a strategy and

         19  mechanism, by which Local Law 29 could be

         20  administered by some 30 New York City agencies, and

         21  departments charged with promoting voter

         22  registration.

         23                 What resulted were a set of

         24  guidelines to be distributed to New York City

         25  agencies, and a brochure intended to outline
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          2  qualifications and procedures.  Both of these

          3  documents were provided in a format conducive to

          4  web, as well as print distribution, and I have

          5  offered you copies.

          6                 Though originally contracted for

          7  three months, this assignment lasted for eight.

          8  Over this period of time, there was considerable

          9  debate with many versions submitted for approval

         10  regarding interpretation of Local Law 29, and the

         11  language to be used.  In the end, it complied with

         12  federal, state, and local Board of Election

         13  materials.  It was submitted for improvement, and

         14  approval, to the New York City Board of Elections.

         15  More than twenty- five revisions were made by

         16  corporate counsel, a process that continued until

         17  their final approval.

         18                 Of particular concern to corporate

         19  counsel was the expression of somewhat complicated

         20  qualifications, like citizenship and registration

         21  for felons, all of which you have had excellent

         22  testimony on this morning.

         23                 It was decided that we would include

         24  telephone numbers, and web addresses for VAC, the

         25  New York City Board of Elections, and New York
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          2  Immigration hot lines, as well as other authoritive

          3  agencies on the subject that would be added to this

          4  brochure to assist employees in answering these

          5  questions, or clients in getting direct confidential

          6  answers to questions that they were uncomfortable

          7  giving to city employees.

          8                 Because providing verbal assistance

          9  was contested by most VAC commissioners, corporate

         10  counsel, and the Mayor's office, at the time, the

         11  brochure was designed to address their stated

         12  concerns, and to minimize the amount of assistance

         13  city employees might have to provide, while at the

         14  same time providing responsible information for any

         15  city employee who might.  In truth, even if city

         16  employees provided no verbal assistance distributing

         17  this brochure, in several languages, would certainly

         18  advance the intent of Local Law 29 and offer

         19  potential voter registrants a responsible

         20  alternative.  The only overt requirement was that

         21  these be printed, and placed in prominent locations

         22  in all participating city agencies, along with the

         23  voter registration forms themselves, and a

         24  receptacle where completed forms could be collected

         25  and forwarded to the Board of Elections.
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          2                 The final approved version was

          3  presented to VAC in April of 2001, and while

          4  portions of these documents have appeared on the VAC

          5  site, and a radically modified guideline was

          6  distributed to some city agencies, to the best of my

          7  knowledge, the brochure has never been adopted for

          8  use.

          9                 Going forward, with the addition of

         10  language clarifying new issues of voter

         11  identification, a document of this kind, prepared

         12  for print and web distribution could be quickly

         13  adopted and circulated.  It could also serve as the

         14  basis of training session discussions, accessed

         15  easily by good government organizations for

         16  download, and printing on an 'as needed' basis, and

         17  of course, accessed at all New York City Public

         18  Library locations by grass- roots organizations or

         19  any New York City resident.  Thank you.

         20                 MR. HAYDUK:  Thank you for the

         21  opportunity to testify today.  It is a pleasure and

         22  a privilege to be here with you again.  I am really

         23  grateful for your efforts to improve the

         24  opportunities for all New Yorkers to be afforded

         25  equal chance to register, and to vote.  I commend
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          2  your efforts, and I am here to strongly urge you to

          3  pass quickly, hopefully, Intro. 608 and 613 to move

          4  quickly to ensure full and fair implementation.

          5                 I want to just highlight a couple of

          6  key points that have been made before, but just to

          7  underscore them.  To ensure really effectiveness, I

          8  think it is absolutely critical that verbal

          9  assistance is provided at the same level of

         10  completion of other forms, and the receiving and

         11  transmission of the forms is absolutely critical for

         12  this to work properly, especially in light as

         13  mentioned in the previous panels by the advocates

         14  about the new identification requirements that HAVA

         15  will require first- time registrants and those that

         16  register by mail.  By the way, Councilman Brewers'

         17  point about the greater use of technology, I think,

         18  is one that is worth considering.  The NVRA requires

         19  that the DMV, or the DMV transfer some of its

         20  information electronically currently, though it is

         21  true that the original signature required by the

         22  Board of Elections and state law is there, there is

         23  ways to explore, perhaps, scanning the signature or

         24  if it needs to have its change in the state law,

         25  certainly, if there is a will there is a way, and I
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          2  think those ways should be explored, and I believe

          3  the Council has the will.  And, also, Ludovic

          4  Blain's point about how California's doing their

          5  program is something worth considering.

          6                 I wanted to make one quick comment

          7  about the previous speakers assertion that 608 and

          8  613 would be problematic for non- citizens, and I

          9  want to speak to that point in a moment as well, but

         10  the NVRA handles this issue pretty well, this

         11  business of citizenship, and there's ways to

         12  properly train city agency workers and instruct

         13  individuals about this.

         14                 Individuals can choose to register,

         15  or not, there is a question, do you want to register

         16  to vote, or not, yes or no.  People can reveal or

         17  not reveal anything about their citizenship status,

         18  and I believe, HRA does this statewide fairly well,

         19  and here in the City, so, maybe you will hear

         20  further from HRA about that.

         21                 I would like to, if I may, turn to

         22  another subject, which is to explore other ways to

         23  expand voter participation in the City.  As you know

         24  the City Charter Revision Commission convened to

         25  explore ways to expand voter participation.  I want
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          2  to encourage the Council to consider two ways that

          3  are sure- fire methods of increasing voter

          4  participation.  One, is to re- enfranchise non

          5  citizens.  Secondly, election day registration.  I

          6  want to focus primarily on the former, non- citizen

          7  voting.  It is not widely known that non- citizens

          8  currently vote in local elections in a half a dozen

          9  jurisdictions in the United States, and that over

         10  the past decade a number of jurisdictions have moved

         11  to do the same, nor that for 150 years of our

         12  country's history, non- citizens voted in local,

         13  state, and even national elections in 22 states and

         14  federal territories, and even held office.  In fact,

         15  there are over 20 countries in the world that permit

         16  non-citizens to vote.  It is legal, the constitution

         17  does not preclude it, and the courts have upheld it.

         18                 And as you know, non-citizens voted

         19  in New York City school board elections until this

         20  year when the boards were abolished.  In New York

         21  City, we are talking about one million, three

         22  hundred, sixty-one thousand non-citizens of voting

         23  age out of six million voting age residents.  That

         24  means one in five New Yorkers, the newest New

         25  Yorkers, are excluded from being able to select
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          2  representatives who make laws and public policy,

          3  that effects their lives on a daily basis, yet,

          4  these newest New Yorkers are subject to all the

          5  laws, contribute to the economic vitality of the

          6  City by paying taxes, purchasing goods and services,

          7  working in every sector of the economy, own

          8  businesses of all kinds, contribute to the social

          9  and cultural vitality of the City, by sending their

         10  children to schools, developing and participating in

         11  the life of their communities, serve in the

         12  military, and even die defending this country.  In

         13  fact --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Please do not

         15  take a lot of time letting us know how beautiful and

         16  wonderful they are.

         17                 MR. HAYDUK:  'Tis true.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  We accept that.

         19                 MR. HAYDUK:  Okay, I will jump to the

         20  punchline which is, fortunately, there is a growing

         21  movement around the country to re-enfranchise

         22  non-citizens.  Thankfully, even here in New York

         23  City.  Maryland and Massachusetts have recently

         24  enfranchised non-citizens to vote.  San Francisco is

         25  considering doing the same.  Washington, D.C. Is not
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          2  far behind.  Let me just say that, to conclude, New

          3  York, being the home of the Statue of Liberty and

          4  Ellis Island symbolizes America's past and present,

          5  and future, as an immigrant nation.  How appropriate

          6  it would be to affirm this leadership role in

          7  restoring non- citizenship voting to our City's

          8  great elections.  By doing so, New York would update

          9  our democracy for a global era and affirm America's

         10  founding principles.  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you all

         12  very much.

         13                 You know, the Administration has

         14  problems with this bill because of it's concerns

         15  about the immigrants' rights, and I am not quite

         16  sure how, I know that the groups that were

         17  mobilizing, the advocates, that mobilized to forced

         18  to get the Executive Order that the Administration

         19  uses in its testimony are supportive of this bill as

         20  the voice of the immigrant community, and I know you

         21  have had some experience yourself in terms of

         22  immigrants rights, do you have any concerns about

         23  this bill in any way, being in conflict with the

         24  Executive Order?

         25                 MR. HAYDUK:  I do not, personally, I
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          2  do not want to speak for all of those groups, there

          3  are many of them, and they have some disagreements

          4  with each other but I think that the, again, the

          5  bill is aimed at increasing the opportunities for

          6  all to register to vote, and that if there is a

          7  danger in anyone revealing information, that that

          8  can be dealt with in the training of employees, that

          9  the, in the instructional materials and that no

         10  one's rights or the Executive Order needs to be

         11  violated.  The Executive Order is a commendable one,

         12  one that most support and, I think, there's ways of

         13  having both.  I do not think it is either/or.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Anyone else

         15  have any opinions on this?

         16                 COMMISSIONER KALMUS:  I have no

         17  comment on that part of the testimony.

         18                 MS. JONES:  I can only share my

         19  experience of two years ago, and the language in a

         20  couple of areas has changed since then, but, there

         21  was considerable debate with corporate counsel about

         22  how you would handle that kind of confidential

         23  information, and the end was, it is a matter of

         24  training and how far a city employee needs to go

         25  before they say, "Here is a telephone number, or
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          2  here is a web address, and here is somebody who can

          3  give you responsible, confidential information not

          4  connected with my office", and once you have that

          5  information, you can check off your box and you can

          6  send in this registration form all by yourself, I

          7  never have to see it, I never have to know whether

          8  you have done or you have not done it, once I have

          9  given you this telephone number for a responsible

         10  answer, so, and I went through months of this

         11  conversation, so that I know that those who hold to

         12  an opposite point of view are incredibly stubborn

         13  about it, but, I do not see that its the obstacle

         14  that everybody seems, a number of people would like

         15  to make it, including the Mayor.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I know the bill

         17  contemplates that VAC would do the training, and in

         18  that regard --

         19                 MS. JONES:  Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I would imagine

         21  that you would have some ideas or some intentions to

         22  avoid that conflict that is being raised by the

         23  Administration.

         24                 COMMISSIONER KALMUS:  Yes.

         25                 MS. JONES:  Absolutely.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER KALMUS:  Part of this,

          3  Chairman Perkins, is the fact that the

          4  Administrations' attempt to restructure VAC in the

          5  past, on the past election day was an admission, so

          6  far as I was concerned, that VAC needs

          7  restructuring. We hoped that this would be something

          8  that we could take up, and at the same time, provide

          9  the count of a budget which would include, and I am

         10  not now talking about a coordinator, that is, I do

         11  not want to go there.

         12                 What I do want to do is to suggest

         13  that in the restructuring of VAC, supplying us with

         14  the necessary funds, to do the work that we were

         15  charted to do in 1989, that there be included a

         16  salary for a Pro- Voter Law Project Coordinator who

         17  would, who's responsibility would be to take into

         18  consideration all of the wonderful aspects of your

         19  new Pro- Voter Law, and I would hope that we might

         20  be able to accomplish, if not now, certainly as

         21  early in 2004, which is going to be a year of great

         22  information and education so far as the registered

         23  and unregistered citizens of the City, that they

         24  would have the right to look to the Voter Assistance

         25  Commission for the kind of answers to questions of
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          2  which there are many.  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  In addition to

          4  VAC doing training, the individual agencies would be

          5  involved in training their employees as well, to

          6  make sure that they did not violate any Executive

          7  Orders.  I should let you know that we will be

          8  submitting a bill to restructure VAC, and in fact, I

          9  will be sponsoring that bill, so that is something

         10  that we intend on taking up, and, needless to say,

         11  there are some other concerns that I would imagine

         12  that you point out, budget- wise, that will have to

         13  be looked at, as well.  So, thank you for your

         14  testimony.

         15                 COMMISSIONER KALMUS:  Thank you very

         16  much, Mr. Chairman.

         17                 CHAIRMAN PERKINS:  We appreciate your

         18  continued work on behalf of the people of the City

         19  of New York.

         20                 COMMISSIONER KALMUS:  Thank you,

         21  Chairman.

         22                 MR. HAYDUK:  Thank you for your time.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  We are pleased

         24  that the Assemblyman, Michael Benjamin has joined us

         25  and would like, if it is his pleasure, for him to
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          2  come forward now to testify.

          3                 Also, I want to recognize the

          4  distinguished Chairwomen of our Education Committee,

          5  Eva Moskowitz has joined us.

          6                 COUNSEL TOLLIN:  Good afternoon,

          7  Assemblyman.  Could you raise your right hand?  Do

          8  you solemnly swear and affirm the testimony you are

          9  about to give is the truth, the whole truth, and

         10  nothing but the truth?

         11                 ASSEMBLYMAN BENJAMIN: Yes.

         12                 COUNSEL TOLLIN:  Thank you.

         13                 ASSEMBLYMAN BENJAMIN:  Wrong way, I

         14  got it.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  You have been

         16  here before, do not start acting like you just --

         17                 ASSEMBLYMAN BENJAMIN:  Yes, I

         18  forget.  You know, I rushed to get here, I knew you

         19  had a deadline before 3 o'clock.  I believe

         20  anybody's time.  All right.  So, good afternoon.

         21                 I am here to support your Intro.,

         22  which I cannot remember what the number is, I did

         23  not get it.  I was asked at the last minute on

         24  Friday to come and testify about a particular issue,

         25  but, anyway, I am in support of the Intros. Which
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          2  amends the City's Pro- Voter Law by mandating

          3  additional, annual training before agency staff,

          4  verbal assistance for the public, and agency

          5  transmission of registration forms.

          6                 As a member of the State Assembly, I

          7  sit on the Elections Law, Corrections, and

          8  Governmental Operations Committees. This year, the

          9  Assembly passed legislation bringing New York State

         10  into line with the mandates of the federal Help

         11  America Vote Act, or otherwise known as HAVA.

         12  Governor Pataki signed into law my bill, I believe,

         13  A8840, which establishes an administrative complaint

         14  procedure through which a voter may make a complaint

         15  relating to any violation of Title III of the Help

         16  America Vote Act of 2002.

         17                 Prior to my election to the Assembly,

         18  I was the Deputy Chief Clerk at the Bronx Board of

         19  Elections, where I oversaw voter registration, poll

         20  worker training and election operations.

         21                 The bills under consideration by the

         22  City Council are good bills, and are ones that will

         23  greatly improve voter access to voter registration

         24  materials by all persons who come into contact with

         25  local government.  Many more of our citizens need to
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          2  become registered voters and active participants in

          3  our democratic process.  I fully support the two

          4  bills, however, I have a particular concern

          5  regarding a special class of voters that needs to be

          6  addressed.

          7                 The class of voters to which I refer

          8  are ex offenders and misdemeanor offenders.  Ex-

          9  offenders, especially ex felons, are under the wrong

         10  impression that they are ineligible to vote because

         11  of their felony convictions.  Nothing could be

         12  further from the truth.  Once offenders have

         13  completed their terms of incarceration, parole or

         14  probation, they are eligible to register or re-

         15  register to vote.  Board of Elections personnel and

         16  Pro- Voter agency staff must be properly informed

         17  and trained to encourage ex offenders to complete

         18  voter registration forms.

         19                 I recently wrote Chairman Perkins

         20  requesting legislation requiring both the City Board

         21  of Elections and the Department of Correction to

         22  actively distribute voter registration and absentee

         23  ballot applications to Rikers Island inmates and

         24  other detainee's in the city jail system.  They are

         25  an estimated 10 - 13,000 men and women in the city
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          2  jail system awaiting trial or are serving sentences

          3  on misdemeanor convictions, who will be in city

          4  jails during the primary and general elections, and

          5  the upcoming presidential primary.

          6                 To that end, I also introduced an

          7  Assembly Bill, which would mandate county jails and

          8  local corrections departments to provide voter

          9  registration and absentee ballot applications

         10  materials to detainees and to offenders serving

         11  misdemeanor sentences.

         12                 When the City Council passed Local

         13  Law 29 of 2000, the Council designated the

         14  Department of Correction as a voter registration

         15  agency, and as a consequence, the Correction

         16  Department is mandated to facilitate access to voter

         17  registration materials, however, I am of the opinion

         18  that all city agencies must also offer absentee

         19  ballot applications, to any eligible person wishing

         20  to register and/or to vote.  Not enough of our

         21  registered voters make effective use of the absentee

         22  ballot  Detainees and misdemeanor offenders still

         23  retain the right to vote and that right must be

         24  facilitated.  The Board of Elections must, can and

         25  must effectively assist the Corrections Department
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          2  and other mandated city agencies in fully

          3  implementing Local Law 29 and its successor

          4  amendments.

          5                 I look forward to working with

          6  Speaker Miller, Chairman Perkins, Council member

          7  Gioia, and the City Council to ensure that all

          8  eligible persons in our city, and even those in our

          9  jail system, register to vote and complete absentee

         10  ballot applications, and thank you for the

         11  opportunity to offer my testimony.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you for

         13  coming to testify in support of these two bills, 608

         14  and 613.  We appreciate your particular focus with

         15  regard to those who are awaiting trial or have

         16  already gone to trial, and have been convicted, yet

         17  have served their time, whether felons or multiple

         18  felons, or what, the fact that so many of them

         19  effectively disenfranchise by wide- spread ignorance

         20  on their part, as well as on the part of people who

         21  do registration, as to what their rights are.  So,

         22  it is very important that we raise that concern, and

         23  that we continue to keep it in the forefront,

         24  especially since so many of them are in that

         25  situation, and many of them are men and women of

                                                            93

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  color, and that is a very significant concern that

          3  we have.  So, appreciate your dashing down here from

          4  Albany and--.

          5                 ASSEMBLYMAN BENJAMIN:  I was just in

          6  the Bronx.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  That sounds

          8  like Albany to us, but in any case, and for all the

          9  work that you have been doing in the State

         10  Legislature to advance this cause, as well.

         11                 ASSEMBLYMAN BENJAMIN:  I appreciate

         12  it, thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you.  By

         14  the way, never mind, I will talk to you about it

         15  another time.  Thank you.

         16                 ASSEMBLYMAN BENJAMIN:  Okay.  Okay,

         17  thanks.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Alaina Beverly,

         19  from the NAAC (SIC) Legal Defense Fund, Alan Gibson

         20  of the Fortune Society, Allah Prince from the

         21  Fortune Society.  Alan and Allah.  This is our last

         22  panel, unless there is someone out here to testify

         23  that has not signed up.  Thank you.

         24                 COUNSEL TOLLIN:  Could you each raise

         25  your right hand?  Do you solemnly swear and affirm
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          2  the testimony you are about to give is truth, the

          3  whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

          4                 MR. GIBSON:  I do.

          5                 MS. BEVERLY:  I do.

          6                 MR. PRINCE:  I do.

          7                 COUNSEL TOLLIN:  Okay, before giving

          8  your testimony, could you state your name and your

          9  organization, and start from our right, your left?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Is it green?

         11                 MS. BEVERLY:  Yes, this is obviously

         12  my first time. Good afternoon, my name is Alaina

         13  Beverly.  I am here to represent the NAACP Legal

         14  Defense and Educational Fund.  Thank you for the

         15  opportunity to testify today.  The NAACP Legal

         16  Defense and Educational Fund urges Council members

         17  to strengthen the Pro- Voter Law by supporting the

         18  amendments offered by Speaker Gifford Miller and

         19  Council members Perkins and Gioia.

         20                 In the November 2000 Presidential

         21  elections many African- Americans were shut out of

         22  the electoral process because of local and statewide

         23  voting rights violations.  Many flagrant violations

         24  occurred in Florida.  Thousands of minority voters

         25  were disfranchised in the Florida elections as a
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          2  result of machine problems, inadequately trained

          3  poll workers, confusing eligibility requirements,

          4  lack of notice of polling place changes, and

          5  insufficient error control in the centralized

          6  database resulting in thousands of purged voters.

          7                 In response, the Legal Defense Fund

          8  along with the coalition of civil rights

          9  organizations filed a challenge against state

         10  elections officials in NAACP v. Harris.  The case

         11  sought relief from state and local election

         12  officials and the private corporation retained by

         13  Florida to "scrub" its voter rolls.  NAACP v. Harris

         14  was settled after receiving commitments from state

         15  and local officials in six of the violating counties

         16  to make improvements in this area.

         17                 Our experience in NAACP v. Harris

         18  informs us that in the area of voting 'the devil is

         19  in the details'.  Focusing on the roles and

         20  responsibilities of all of the actors needed to

         21  enforce the Pro- Voter Law will ensure that the Pro-

         22  Voter Law is helpful not only in word but in deed.

         23  The 2000 elections in Florida exemplified for the

         24  world that voting power is lost when clarity and

         25  accountability are not a part of the voting process.
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          2    However, many of the problems that received so

          3  much attention in Florida were widespread in New

          4  York, as well.

          5                 In order for the goals of the

          6  National Voter Registration Act, the Pro- Voter Law

          7  and other similar state and local statutes to have

          8  effect, they must place affirmative obligations on

          9  agencies to carry out registration efforts, as well

         10  as provide mechanisms to monitor those agencies'

         11  obligations.  The Miller, Perkins, and Gioia

         12  amendments do both.

         13                 The amendments will significantly

         14  increase opportunities for voter access by requiring

         15  training of agency officials that are charged with

         16  the responsibility of registering citizens.  We

         17  recommend that the amendments provide for meaningful

         18  training that is directed toward explaining the

         19  nature of agency responsibilities and the

         20  requirements of the Help America Vote Act, including

         21  but not limited to, limitations on HAVA's

         22  identification requirements.  Moreover, it will be

         23  necessary to underscore that the agencies only meet

         24  its obligations if its employees are given an

         25  understanding of how to carry out their registration
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          2  duties.

          3                 Consistent with the purpose of the

          4  amendments, which is to expand registration, we

          5  support holding the Department of Corrections

          6  responsible for implementing the Pro- Voter Law so

          7  that the currently underserved group of eligible

          8  voters will be reached.

          9                 Finally, the amendments require all

         10  participating agencies to transmit completed

         11  registration forms to the Board of Elections.  The

         12  mandatory transfer of registrations will streamline

         13  the voter registration process.  In order to ensure

         14  the efficacy of this process, we recommend that the

         15  Board of Elections publish agency registration rates

         16  annually.

         17                 The NAACP Legal Defense Fund supports

         18  these amendments to the Pro- Voter Law based upon

         19  the lessons that we have learned from years of

         20  experience and from the last presidential elections.

         21    We support the amendments to the Pro- Voter Law

         22  and the opportunity they represent to expand access

         23  to the vote.  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very,

         25  you did very well for the first time.
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          2                 MS. BEVERLY:  Oh, thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Push the

          4  button.  That's it.

          5                 MR. PRINCE:  Okay, thank you.  My

          6  name is Allah Prince, I am representing the Fortune

          7  Society, a case manager there.  Here to testify

          8  today, before the Council about the disproportionate

          9  number of clients that we serve at the Fortune

         10  Society that do no know their right to vote and do

         11  not know exactly when they regain their right, upon

         12  their release from Rikers Island, which we do serve

         13  quite a bit of our clientele.

         14                 One of the things that I would like

         15  to say here today is that the right to vote, it has

         16  a profound history, and it is not going back to

         17  women's suffrage, and even back in the Civil Rights

         18  with Martin Luther King.  One of the things that the

         19  Fortune Society want to be known today, is that the

         20  clientele that, in fact, the founder of the Fortune

         21  Society, Mr. David Rothenberg, invites political

         22  speakers to come and give presentations from time to

         23  time.  One of the, I am not going to mention his

         24  name, but one of the people running for office came

         25  to the Fortune Society, and said, he made a

                                                            99

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  statement that you can put a blindfold on and drive

          3  through a community and actually tell which

          4  community has a strong voting block by just the

          5  smooth, the ride of the vehicle, whether it's a

          6  smooth ride or a rough, or bumpy ride, and one, I am

          7  from Bedford Styvesant, and they had just worked on

          8  the roads, so, if you was to put a blindfold on, you

          9  would actually get a smooth ride, that just goes to

         10  show that the people there, their voice is being

         11  heard, and the vote, and the process to vote.

         12                 One of the things that we are

         13  concerned about is the information, and how this

         14  information is actually delivered to those people

         15  who are incarcerated, and how their voice will be

         16  heard in the voting process.  As a case manager at

         17  Fortune, one of our things as far as getting the

         18  people to register to vote, we have, we actually

         19  have voters registration drives, in fact, we go out,

         20  we are located in Chelsea, we actually go out, stand

         21  on the corner and give flyers out, so that the

         22  people within the community can come and register to

         23  vote.  As far as our clientele are concerned, what

         24  we normally do is, we tell them who on probation,

         25  parole, we tell them to go back to their
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          2  communities, and to actually get their friends who

          3  are on the corners, or in the communities who do not

          4  know that they have a right to vote, or have a right

          5  to register to vote, to come to the agency, or even

          6  within their own community and register.

          7                 One of my main concerns with this

          8  whole issue is that the requirement of city agencies

          9  to educate these young men and women before they are

         10  released, that is my main concern.

         11                 One of the things that the prison

         12  system do is they have a pre-release center, and the

         13  pre-release center normally don't inform the

         14  eligible person going up for release about their

         15  rights to vote, or their rights to register to vote.

         16    As a former incarcerated person myself, I had

         17  recently regained my right to vote, but I was not

         18  told exactly when I could vote.  I was not even told

         19  I had the right to vote, however, I am sent an

         20  application to go and perform jury duty, and I find

         21  that kind of ironic.  I can actually go and perform

         22  a jury duty but I am not actually informed as to

         23  when I can go and vote.  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         25  much.  Next.
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          2                 MR. GIBSON:  My name is Alan Gibson,

          3  I am an employee and former client of the Fortune

          4  Society.  I would like to thank you today for

          5  letting my come and testify.  Basically, I am what

          6  you call a hands on example of the people you are

          7  talking about today because I am on parole right

          8  now, and I am on life parole, and hopefully in a

          9  year and a half, I will be able to get my

         10  certificate of relief, but there are so many of my

         11  colleagues who are on parole with me, who have

         12  finished parole that do not know about their right

         13  to vote.

         14                 As far as coming to the penitentiary

         15  system, upon intake, and most of your institutions

         16  upstate, says, also Sing Sing, or downstate, you are

         17  not informed of what rights you have lost or how you

         18  can get these rights back.  Upon release, and during

         19  parole, whether it is for a short period of time or

         20  long period of time, you are not informed about as

         21  far as what you can do about getting your voting

         22  rights back.  In fact, in all, voting is not even

         23  mentioned to you, as if it not even a privilege for

         24  you to have.  A lot of things I learned about voting

         25  is through the organizations that I have worked with
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          2  since I have been home.  As far as the legal system

          3  itself, it seems like it is more of a discouragement

          4  as far as people that have been incarcerated, or who

          5  are incarcerated, and are going to be released into

          6  the community really do not need that right to vote.

          7                 That is the feeling among a lot of

          8  people. I work now with young youths, 16 to 29, in a

          9  ATI Program, which is Alternative to Incarceration,

         10  and a lot of these young gentlemen, once they finish

         11  their six months at Fortune, they are going to be

         12  what they call, have youthful status, youthful

         13  offender status, where they get their rights back,

         14  some will have a felony conviction but with no

         15  parole, but a lot of them have no idea that they are

         16  allowed to vote, and there is nothing being done

         17  right now other than the organizations that we have,

         18  or there are people that have spoken with pride in

         19  me, that go around and help. As far as the

         20  Department of Corrections, I think it is their duty,

         21  overall, if you can incarcerate us, at least let us

         22  know what we can do as far as getting our lives back

         23  together.  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you all

         25  very much.  We have heard quite a bit of testimony
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          2  on the subject that you are speaking about, as far

          3  as trying to do something to guarantee that voting

          4  opportunity for those who are qualified but are

          5  deemed by, for the most part, by ignorance, not to

          6  be qualified.

          7                 So, we will probably have a hearing,

          8  maybe focus directly on that, and develop some

          9  legislation that speaks specifically to that,

         10  though, we could conceivably include something in

         11  this bill, or one of these bills, I think we will be

         12  looking at how we can do something even more

         13  specific, and maybe yourselves and the NAACP Legal

         14  Defense Fund, Demos, et cetera, can be, can meet

         15  with us and see how we can come up with something.

         16  It is a great concern of mine, and I am sure my

         17  colleagues in the Council.

         18                 The Administration has a concern

         19  about immigrants rights as it relates to Intro. 608,

         20  and I do not know if you were here for that

         21  testimony, but it essentially says that it would,

         22  sort of, violate the Executive Order that says,

         23   "Don't ask, Don't Tell", basically.  Do you see

         24  that as, from a Civil rights point of view as a

         25  concern, that this bill raises?
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          2                 MS. BEVERLY:  No, I do not, from a

          3  Civil Rights perspective, I think that is an

          4  untenable position, I do not think that the

          5  amendments, as they are proposed would pose a

          6  challenge to the privacy rights of non- citizens.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you.

          8  Well, this hearing was again to look at Intro. 608

          9  and 613, which essentially are about strengthening

         10  the New York City Pro- Voter Act.

         11                 We want to thank you for your

         12  participation in today's hearing, and your continued

         13  work in your respective fields, on behalf of the

         14  people of the City of New York.

         15                 We want to thank all of those who

         16  came, and gave us their testimony there, well

         17  reasoned and thought out, researched, in response to

         18  these two bills.  We are confident that we are

         19  moving in the right direction towards expanding

         20  participation, and protecting the franchise of New

         21  Yorkers, and reorganizing the Voter Assistance

         22  Commission, so that it has greater relevancy for the

         23  people of the City of New York.  We are, obviously,

         24  interested in working with the Administration as

         25  much as is reasonably possible, recognizing that
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          2  reasonable is the operative word but, nevertheless,

          3  we will make sure that legislation is passed that

          4  strengthens our intentions with regard to Pro-

          5  Voter.  With that in mind, we want to thank one and

          6  all and announce that this hearing is over.

          7                 (Meeting adjourned at 3:15 p.m.)
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